

LUND UNIVERSITY

Understanding the adaptive capacity of the bumblebee Bombus terrestris across native and novel environments

Hjort, Cecilia

2024

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Hjort, C. (2024). Understanding the adaptive capacity of the bumblebee Bombus terrestris across native and novel environments. Biologiska institutionen, Lunds universitet.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply: Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Understanding the adaptive capacity of the bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* across native and novel environments

CECILIA KARDUM HJORT DEPARTMENT OF BIOLOGY | FACULTY OF SCIENCE | LUND UNIVERSITY



Understanding the adaptive capacity of the bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* across native and novel environments

Understanding the adaptive capacity of the bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* across native and novel environments

Cecilia Kardum Hjort



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Doctoral dissertation for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (PhD) at the Faculty of Science at Lund University to be publicly defended on the 1st of March 2024 at 09.30 in the Blue Hall, Department of Biology, Ecology building, Sölvegatan 37, Lund

Faculty opponent Claire Carvell

The doctoral education has been carried out under joint supervision between Lund University and Macquarie University (Sydney, Australia).

Organization: LUND UNIVERSITY

Document name: DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

Date of issue: 2024-01-15

Author: Cecilia Kardum Hjort

Title: Understanding the adaptive capacity of the bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* across native and novel environments

Abstract:

Anthropogenic stressors such as agricultural intensification, climate change, and increased densities of non-native managed bees used for crop pollination are contributing to bee declines. Understanding how and why bees have responded to past environmental changes is crucial for predicting future ones and enabling mitigation to maintain the functioning of both natural and agricultural ecosystems. The anthropogenic stressors are expected to put demand on the ability of bees to respond to future change. Thus, the ability of bee populations to persist in a particular area may require adaptive responses via either phenotypic plasticity or evolutionary adaptations in functional traits (e.g. physiological, morphological, and life-history traits). However, for bumblebees, it is not fully understood how gene flow and environmental differences affect such adaptations. In this thesis, I studied the bumblebee Bombus terrestris in a native (Sweden) and novel (Tasmania, Australia) setting, aiming to investigate; (1) if the introduction of commercial B. terrestris of a different sub-species affects wild Swedish B. terrestris via introgressive hybridization using whole-genome sequencing (WGS), and what the evolutionary consequences are; (2) if wild native B. terrestris in Sweden is genetically structured and shows selection signatures in relation to land use and climate variables, using double digest restriction-site associated DNA (ddRAD) sequencing; (3) if the recently introduced B. terrestris in Tasmania shows morphological variation in relation to the island's heterogeneous environment and climate, facilitating its invasion success; and finally, (4) if there is evidence for selection on functional genes and morphology in B. terrestris given the novel environmental and climatic conditions across Tasmania, using RADseq. From these four chapters, I outline several interesting key findings. In **Chapter I**, I found genomic differences between wild Swedish and commercial B. terrestris but no evidence for recent genomic introgression between the two even though feral commercial bumblebees were present in the wild. Although, nonnative B. terrestris are likely ill-adapted to the Swedish environment but may under future climate change be able to persist and mate. Chapter II showed that wild *B. terrestris* in a native range consists mainly of a homogeneous population, but with evidence for weak genetic structuring, separating southern Sweden from the central and more northern regions. Our results showed no evidence for signatures of adaptation to agricultural landscape simplification, instead, weak, local genetic adaptation was documented in genes related to insecticide resistance and immune response and associated with higher proportions of agricultural cover and latitude of sites. We suggest that B. terrestris generalist and mobile characteristics allow the species to exploit various environments with limited genetic local adaptation and suggest this generalist species may not be as severely affected by land-use change as more specialist bumblebees. Chapters III and IV showed how B. terrestris in its novel range has locally adapted to the selection pressures of a novel heterogeneous environment in Tasmania, Australia, specifically to precipitation and wind. Identified genes were related to cuticle-regulated water loss prevention, immune response, olfactory system, and functions relating to flight muscles. Our results shed further light on how B. terrestris successfully colonized and invaded Tasmania despite the genetic consequences of a founding bottleneck. Taken together, the four chapters in this thesis demonstrate how the generalist bumblebee B. terrestris in both its native and novel ranges is able to thrive in the face of anthropogenic change and in new heterogeneous environments.

Keywords: Bumblebees, *Bombus terrestris*, pollination, introgression, single nucleotide polymorphisms, whole genome sequencing, landscape simplification, gene flow, morphology, environmental variation, invasion, local adaptation, island

Language: English

Number of pages: 192

ISBN: 978-91-8039-922-7 (pdf)

ISBN: 978-91-8039-923-4 (printed)

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature

Date 2024-01-15

Understanding the adaptive capacity of the bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* across native and novel environments

Cecilia Kardum Hjort



Coverart by Violetta Caballero-Lopez Copyright pp 1-68 Cecilia Kardum Hjort

Paper 1 © John Wiley & Sons (Creative Commons, open access), Evolutionary Applications Paper 2 © by the Authors (Manuscript unpublished) Paper 3 © Oxford University Press (Creative Commons, open access), Journal of Insect Science Paper 4 © John Wiley & Sons (Creative Commons, open access), Molecular Ecology

Faculty of Science Department of Biology

ISBN 978-91-8039-922-7 (pdf) ISBN 978-91-8039-923-4 (printed)

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2024



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se



To my family- Basti, Pappa, Emme and Börje

Table of Contents

Abstract	10
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	12
List of papers	15
Author's contributions Authors	16 16
Abbreviations	17
Introduction	18
Anthropogenic environmental and climate change	18
Bee responses to anthropogenic change The interplay between neutral connectivity, local adaptation, and	21
genetic diversity in light of anthropogenic change Intra-specific plastic or evolutionary trait changes in bumblebees	21
related to anthropogenic change The interplay between morphological functional trait variation and	22
invasiveness in bees	24
The case of <i>Bombus terrestris</i>	24
Thesis aims	27
Material and methods	29
Study designs and data collection	29
Experimental landscape design (Sweden, Chapter I) Simple and complex landscape and temperature study design	29
(Sweden, Chapter II) Environmental and climatic study design (Tasmania, Australia,	31
Chapters III and IV)	33
Overview of methodologies	34
Morphological measurements	34
Bioinformatics, gene annotations and statistical analyses	34 36

Results and discussion	39
The influence of commercial <i>B. terrestris</i> on wild native <i>B. terrestris</i> and genomic differences (Chapter I)	39
Landscape and climate effects on gene flow and selection in native bumblebees, <i>B. terrestris</i> (Chapter II)	43
Novel environmental and climatic influences on genetic divergence, gene flow, and adaptation in invasive <i>B. terrestris</i> (Chapters III and IV)	46
Conclusion and future perspectives	50
Acknowledgements	52
References	54

Abstract

Anthropogenic stressors such as agricultural intensification, climate change, and increased densities of non-native managed bees used for crop pollination are contributing to bee declines. Understanding how and why bees have responded to past environmental changes is crucial for predicting future ones and enabling mitigation to maintain the functioning of both natural and agricultural ecosystems. The anthropogenic stressors are expected to put demand on the ability of bees to respond to future change. Thus, the ability of bee populations to persist in a particular area may require adaptive responses via either phenotypic plasticity or evolutionary adaptations in functional traits (e.g. physiological, morphological, and life-history traits). However, for bumblebees, it is not fully understood how gene flow and environmental differences affect such adaptations. In this thesis, I studied the bumblebee Bombus terrestris in a native (Sweden) and novel (Tasmania, Australia) setting, aiming to investigate: (1) if the introduction of commercial B. terrestris of a different sub-species affects wild Swedish B. terrestris via introgressive hybridization using whole-genome sequencing (WGS), and what the evolutionary consequences are; (2) if wild native B. terrestris in Sweden is genetically structured and shows selection signatures in relation to land use and climate variables, using double digest restriction-site associated DNA (ddRAD) sequencing; (3) if the recently introduced B. terrestris in Tasmania shows morphological variation in relation to the island's heterogeneous environment and climate, facilitating its invasion success; and finally, (4) if there is evidence for selection on functional genes and morphology in *B. terrestris* given the novel environmental and climatic conditions across Tasmania, using RADseq. From these four chapters, I outline several interesting key findings. In Chapter I, I found genomic differences between wild Swedish and commercial B. terrestris but no evidence for recent genomic introgression between the two even though feral commercial bumblebees were present in the wild. Although, non-native B. terrestris are likely ill-adapted to the Swedish environment but may under future climate change be able to persist and mate. Chapter II showed that wild B. terrestris in a native range consists mainly of a homogeneous population, but with evidence for weak genetic structuring, separating southern Sweden from the central and more northern regions. Our results showed no evidence for signatures of adaptation to agricultural landscape simplification (i.e. the proportion of semi-natural habitat and the length of uncultivated agricultural field borders). Instead, weak, local genetic adaptation was documented in genes related to insecticide resistance and immune

response and associated with higher proportions of agricultural cover and latitude of sites. Range expansion of *B. terrestris* was evident via negative Tajima's D, suggestively in a northward direction and more inland into densely forested areas as evidenced by more recent observational data. We suggest that the species' generalist and mobile characteristics allow *B. terrestris* to exploit various environments with limited genetic local adaptation and suggest this generalist species may not be as severely affected by land-use change as more specialist bumblebees. In contrast, Chapters III and IV show how *B. terrestris* in its novel range has locally adapted to the selection pressures of a novel heterogeneous environment in Tasmania, Australia, specifically to precipitation and wind. Candidate loci found were annotated to genes involved in cuticle differentiation and cuticle-regulated water loss prevention, immune response, olfactory system, functions relating to flight muscles, and fatty acid metabolism. Our results shed further light on how B. terrestris successfully colonized and invaded Tasmania despite the genetic consequences of a founding bottleneck. Taken together, the four chapters in this thesis demonstrate how the generalist bumblebee B. terrestris in both its native and invasive ranges is able to thrive in the face of anthropogenic change and novel heterogeneous environments. This thesis is a testament to the capacity of B. terrestris to be a successful pollinator in native ranges while also being one of the world's most successful invasive bee species.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Gruppen bin, som innefattar sociala humlor och honungsbin, och solitära bin, är oerhört viktiga pollinerare av både vilda blommor och odlade grödor. Men de pågående mänskligt orsakade förändringarna bidrar dock till minskningen av bin jorden runt. Just därför är det viktigt att förstå hur bin reagerar på dessa förändringar och om de kan anpassa sig för att fortleva och kunna fortsatt bidra med viktiga ekosystemtjänster inom både naturliga och jordbruksekosystem. Orsakerna bakom minskningen av bin är många, men intensifieringen av jordbruket har i hög grad bidragit. Odlingslandskapet som förut bestod av en spatial blandning av betesmarker, blomrika fältkanter och odlingsfält har på många platser i landskapet ersatts av fler och större odlingsfält. Fälten odlas intensivare och innehåller färre blomresurser i form av ogräs. Dessutom har klimatförändringarna i form av ökade temperaturer och oförutsägbara väderomställningar, ökad urbanisering, samt oavsiktliga konsekvenser ifrån användandet av kommersiella humlor till pollinering av grödor bidragit till minskningen av bin jorden runt.

Alla dessa förändringar förväntas ställa krav på binas förmåga att kunna anpassa sig, men alla bin förväntas inte reagera på samma sätt. Det kan bero på olikheter inom så kallade funktionella egenskaper så som fysiologiska och morfologiska egenskaper, samt livsegenskaper som påverkar hur pass känsliga bin är för exempelvis förändrad markanvändning och klimatpåverkan. Vissa bi-arter kan förflytta sig till bättre livsmiljöer medan andra anpassar sig till sin lokala miljö, antingen genom fenotypisk plasticitet eller evolutionär anpassning om kombinationen av rätt omständigheter så som selektionstryck, genetisk variation och genflöde finns.

Det har nyligen skett en konceptuell förändring av vårt synsätt på evolutionen, att anpassningar till mänskligt orsakade förändringar kan ske snabbare än vi tidigare trott. Det finns många exempel inom gruppen insekter på snabb evolutionär anpassning men för humlor är bevisen inte kompletta. Dessutom för många arter, inklusive humlor, är det osäkert hur genflöde och landskapsskillnader påverkar deras förmåga att anpassa sig. Genflöde kan både vara negativt för en arts anpassningsförmåga, genom ett inflöde av neutrala eller missanpassade gener, men även positivt, då ett inflöde av fördelaktiga gener upprätthåller genetisk variation som kan ligga grund för framtida anpassningar. Därför förutsätts genflöde i många fall bidra till anpassning av förändrade livsmiljöer, om de nya generna bidrar till ökad fitness. Dessutom anses fenotypisk plasticitet som svar på förändrade livsmiljöer vara ett viktigt och snabbt sätt för arter att hantera mänskligt orsakade förändringar och ge arter tid att kunna genetiskt anpassa sig. Följaktligen är sambandet mellan genflöde, fenotypisk plasticitet och genetiska anpassningar till mänskligt orsakade förändringar viktigt att förstå om bin ska fortleva i framtiden.

Vissa humlearter verkar klara miljöförändringar bra. Den mörka jordhumlan (Bombus terrestris), som är en viktig pollinatör i både naturliga och jordbruks ekosystem, har inom vissa områden ökat i antal, sannolikt på bekostnad av andra humlearter. Den har dessutom utökat sitt utbredningsområde inom Skandinavien som svar på ökade temperaturer. Den mörka jordhumlan kan bosätta sig och födosöka i flera olika landskapstyper. Den är en utav de mest varmanpassade humlearterna och är förutspådd att göra bra ifrån sig under framtida klimatförändringar. Dessa egenskaper bidrar till att den mörka jordhumlan förväntas vara mindre känslig för iust mänskligt orsakade landskaps-och temperaturförändringar, och har förmågan att anpassa sig till dessa förändringar.

Den mörka jordhumlan används även i stor utsträckning för kommersiell pollinering av grödor, till exempel tomater, på grund av dess förmåga att effektivt kunna frigöra pollen med hjälp av vibrationer från vingarna (Buzz pollinering). Men i samband med kommersialiseringen har humlan även spritt sig som en invasiv art i områden där risken för konkurrens med vilda bin och hybridisering med vilda humlor finns. På Tasmanien, Australien, har den mörka jordhumlan lyckats bra och blivit invasiv, där selektionstrycket från den nya miljön kan ha format olikheter inom humlans morfologi som har hjälpt göra den mörka jordhumlan så framgångsrik. Sammanfattningsvis påverkas den mörka jordhumlan av mänskligt orsakade förändringar och har möjligtvis anpassat sig, men samtidigt påverkar den andra pollinatörer negativt inom både vilda och nya områden.

I min avhandling studerar jag den mörka jordhumlan i dess naturliga miljö i Sverige och som en invasiv art på Tasmanien, Australien. Inom dess naturliga miljö undersöker jag om kommersiella mörka jordhumlor hybridiserar sig med svenska vilda mörka jordhumlor och vilka eventuella genetiska konsekvenser sådan introgressiv hybridisering kan ha. Dessutom undersöker jag i Sverige om den vilda mörka jordhumlan uppvisar genetiska skillnader till förändrade landskaps- och klimatförhållanden. Inom Tasmanien undersöker jag om den invasiva mörka jordhumlan uppvisar morfologiska skillnader och skillnader i antal i förhållande till olika miljöer. Dessutom under söker jag om det finns bevis för selektion till de nya miljöerna trots begränsad genetisk variation resulterat av en genetisk flaskhals ('bottleneck') vid introduktionen till Tasmanien.

Tillsammans visar mina studier hur både den vilda svenska och invasiva mörka jordhumlan har anpassat sig morfologiskt och genetiskt till mänskligt orsakade landskaps- och klimatförändringar, och nya miljöer men även hur kommersiell mörk jordhumla påverkar vild mörk jordhumla. Mer specifikt visar min avhandling att det finns genetiska skillnader mellan kommersiella mörk jordhumla och svensk vild mörk jordhumla. Dessa skillnader mellan dem skulle kunna ha en negativ framtida påverkan om hybridisering sker. Dock hittade vi inga bevis för att hybridisering sker. Den mörka jordhumlan i Sverige verkar vara ganska homogen, men uppvisar trots detta skillnader i genetisk struktur mellan dess södra och centrala utbredningsområde. Våra resultat visar även att den mörka jordhumlan lokalt har anpassat sig till högre andel jordbruksmark och latitud. Den mörka jordhumlan har även utökat sitt utbredningsområde, förslagsvis mer norrut och inåt landet till skogsmiljöer. Inom dess nya utbredningsområde uppvisar den mörka jordhumlan både morfologiska och genetiska skillnader som svar på den nya varierande miljön på Tasmanien, trots att den tasmanska populationen förlorat genetisk variation vid introduktionen. Sammantaget, bidrar min avhandling med en utökad förståelse för hur en generalistisk humleart har anpassat sig till mänskligt orsakade förändringar och till nya miljöer.

List of papers

Chapter I

Kardum Hjort, C., Paris, J. R., Olsson, P., Herbertsson, L., de Miranda, J. R., Dudaniec, R. Y., & Smith, H. G. (2022). Genomic divergence and a lack of recent introgression between commercial and wild bumblebees (*Bombus terrestris*). *Evolutionary Applications*, 15(3), 365–382.

Chapter II

Kardum Hjort, C., Dudaniec, R. Y., & Smith, H. G. Is local adaptation to landscape structure and climate constrained by gene flow in the native bumblebee, *Bombus terrestris*? Manuscript.

Chapter III

Kardum Hjort, C., Smith, H. G., Allen, A. P., Dudaniec, R. Y. (2023). Morphological variation in bumblebees (*Bombus terrestris*) (Hymenoptera: *Apidae*) after three decades of an island invasion. *Journal of Insect Science*, 23(1), 1–10.

Chapter IV

Kardum Hjort, C., Paris, J. R., Smith, H. G., Dudaniec, R. Y. (2023). Selection despite low genetic diversity and high gene flow in a rapid island invasion of the bumblebee *Bombus terrestris*. *Molecular Ecology*, 00, 1–18.

Author's contributions

Chapter I

CKH, RYD, LH, and HGS conceptualised the study. **CKH** collected samples in the field. **CKH** performed the statistical analyses with the help of JRP. **CKH** drafted the manuscript. All authors contributed to the manuscript with comments and suggestions.

Chapter II

CKH and HGS conceptualised the study. **CKH**, HGS, PO, and JE set up the design. **CKH** collected samples in the field, performed lab work and statistical analyses with help from RYD and PO. **CKH** drafted the manuscript. All authors contributed to the manuscript with comments and suggestions.

Chapter III

CKH, RYD, and HGS conceptualised the study. **CKH** collected samples in the field. **CKH** performed the statistical analyses with the help of AA. **CKH** drafted the manuscript. All authors contributed to the manuscript with comments and suggestions.

Chapter IV

CKH, RYD, and HGS conceptualised the study. **CKH** collected samples in the field and performed initial lab work. RYD finalised the lab work*. **CKH** performed the statistical analyses with the help of JRP. **CKH** drafted the manuscript. All authors contributed to the manuscript with comments and suggestions.

* CKH returned to Sweden due to the Covid-19 pandemic in 2020.

All authors in the list of papers have given their consent for the use of their work in the thesis.

Authors

Cecilia Kardum Hjort (CKH), Rachael Y. Dudaniec (RYD), Henrik G. Smith (HGS), Josephine R. Paris (JRP), Johan Ekroos (JE), Peter Olsson (PO), Andrew Allen (AA), Lina Herbertsson (LH).

Abbreviations

SNH	Semi-natural habitat	
FB	Uncultivated agricultural field borders	
CB	Commercial Bombus terrestris	
WE	Wild experimental (B. terrestris)	
WC	Wild control (B. terrestris)	
ddRAD	Double digest Restriction-site Associated DNA sequencing	
sdRAD	Single digest Restriction-site Associated DNA sequencing	
WGS	Whole-Genome Sequencing	
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism	
EAA	Environmental Association Analysis	
COI	Cytochrome Oxidase subunit 1	
GO	Gene Ontology enrichment analysis	
VEP	Ensembl Variant Effect Predictor tool	
XP- EHH	Cross-Population Extended Haplotype Homozygosity	
MaxTempWarmestMonth Maximum Temperature of the Warmest Month		
ITD	Inter-Tegular Distance	

Introduction

Anthropogenic environmental and climate change

Insect pollination is essential for ecosystems and the maintenance of global biodiversity (IPBES, 2016). The most important group of insect pollinators are bees, where wild and domesticated bees are the main pollinators of the majority of wild flowering plants and crops worldwide (Klein et al., 2007; Ollerton et al., 2011; Potts et al., 2016). Among bees, wild bumblebees (*Bombus sp.*) are well recognized for their pollination services of flowers in natural ecosystems (Belsky & Joshi, 2019) and crop pollination (Klein et al. 2007), with bumblebees such as *Bombus terrestris* being important pollinators of oilseed rape (Goulson, 2003). Managed bumblebees are also efficient crop pollinators (Nayak et al., 2020; Rollin et al., 2016), and have in some systems been shown to be more efficient pollinators than honeybees (Nayak et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2022).

However, there are concerns about declines in both the abundance and diversity of bees on local to global scales (Chagnon, 2008; Goulson et al., 2008; IPBES, 2016; Kosior et al., 2007) as well as resulting changes in bee community composition (Bommarco et al., 2012; Fourcade et al., 2019). While many bee species have declined, some species have expanded or are predicted to expand their distributions, are stable or have even increased in relative abundance (i.e. relative to other bee species) (Dew et al., 2019; Herbertsson et al., 2021; Huml et al., 2021; Kammerer et al., 2021; Kerr et al., 2015; Martinet et al., 2015).

Losses have been attributed to anthropogenic impacts (IPBES 2016) (Figure 1). Understanding how this will ultimately affect global food security and ecosystem resilience is urgent to resolve (Marshman et al., 2019). Although many of the drivers of the observed declines are known, knowledge about what is causing the declines is still incomplete. Agricultural intensification has in many cases acted as a driver of observed bee declines (Goulson et al., 2015; Kremen et al., 2002) due to resulting changes in, for example, landscape composition as crop fields increase in size and replace more or less natural habitats (Robinson & Sutherland, 2002). This has led to loss and increased spatial fragmentation and temporal discontinuity of flower-rich habitats suitable for foraging and nesting, in particular for habitat specialists (Goulson et al., 2015; Smith et al., 2014). In addition, intensive agriculture often relies on pesticides for crop protection, which have been proven harmful to bees and

may lead to widespread insect mortality (Lu et al., 2020; Rundlöf et al., 2015; Tosi et al., 2022; Tsvetkov et al., 2023).

The global use and mass transport of managed bees for agricultural crop pollination services outside of native ranges have contributed to pollinator declines and biological invasions (Potts et al., 2016), where feral managed bumblebees, such as B. terrestris, may outcompete local native bees (Hingston & McQuillan, 1998b; Ings et al., 2005, 2006; Morales et al., 2013) and spread pathogens (Dafni et al., 2010: Evans et al., 2017: Meeus et al., 2011, but see Trillo et al., 2021). As a result, native plant-pollinator relationships have been negatively affected (Aizen et al., 2019; Hingston & McQuillan, 1998a). There is also increasing concern about the evolutionary consequences of managed bumblebees for native pollinator health and genetic integrity (Seabra et al., 2019). The use of non-native bumblebee species and sub-species for crop pollination has repeatedly created conditions for hybridization and introgression (the exchange of genetic material between species or subspecies through hybridization and repeated backcrossing, McFarlane & Pemberton, 2019) between native and non-native bumblebees (Bartomeus et al., 2020; Cejas et al., 2018, 2020; Seabra et al., 2019). This has raised concerns that locally adapted genes in wild populations are disrupted by introgression of maladapted alleles originating from escaped commercial bumblebees (Kanbe et al., 2008; Tsuchida et al., 2010; Yoon et al., 2009).

Another form of human-induced land-use change is urbanization (A. Bates et al., 2011). The consequences of urbanization are many, for example, habitat structural changes and loss (Liu et al., 2016), heat island effects, or changes in air pollution and nutrient cycling and primary production (Grimm et al., 2008). The urban environment is generally highly fragmented (i.e. a matrix of pervious surfaces and green spaces), such that bees may experience longer foraging distances to ecologically relevant patches (Theodorou et al., 2020). This may limit the connectivity to surrounding patches and the resources gathered at each patch, potentially affecting the bees' fitness. On the other hand, the matrix of different environments in cities may be more complex than adjacent rural landscapes (e.g. intensively farmed land), providing sufficient habitat for organisms to live in (Sattler et al., 2010). Urban cities may even function as refuges for bees (Baldock et al., 2015; Fortel et al., 2016).

The effects of climate change are also contributing to bee declines (Kerr et al., 2015; Potts et al., 2016). Effects may be related to mean temperatures, but also unpredictable weather conditions such as more frequent droughts (Descamps et al., 2021; Soroye et al., 2020). Climate change may result in changes to local community compositions through both the declines and increases in bee species with different life-history traits (Pardee et al., 2022). Climate changes may ultimately result in range shifts or range contractions when species no longer can expand northwards or to higher elevations to track their thermal limits (Kerr et al., 2015; Vanbergen et al., 2013). Effects of climate change may also be indirect, such as via increased inter-specific competition between resident species and from range-expanding species (Bocedi et al., 2013).



Figure 1. Different drivers of anthropogenic change that has been recognized to cause bee declines. Examples include landscape simplification and pesticide use due to agricultural intensification, competition from feral non-native commercial bumblebees and introgressive hybridization with wild conspecifics, urbanization, and climate change.

Bee responses to anthropogenic change

Bee species respond differently to anthropogenic impacts, which may partially be explained by differences in functional traits, such as physiological, morphological, and life-history traits that affect their resilience to land use and climate change (Hall et al., 2019; Kammerer et al., 2021; Pardee et al., 2022). Further, in the face of anthropogenic pressures, the persistence of bee species at large spatial scales may be secured by range shifts to more suitable areas. In contrast, persistence at local scales may require adaptive responses by either phenotypic plasticity or evolutionary adaptations in functional traits (e.g. Bocedi et al., 2013; Colgan et al., 2022). As a first step towards mitigating the negative effects of anthropogenic change, we need to better understand which bee traits respond to environmental and climatic pressures. Subsequently, understanding the adaptive potential of bees and whether evolutionary responses are an important mechanism for bees to cope with anthropogenic change should be sought. Lastly, implementing measures to uphold the evolutionary potential should be considered.

The interplay between neutral connectivity, local adaptation, and genetic diversity in light of anthropogenic change

Recently there has been a conceptual shift in our view of evolution, suggesting that rapid adaptation to environmental change may be more common than previously thought (Reznick et al., 2019). There are several studies on insects demonstrating rapid evolutionary change (Colgan et al., 2022; Dudaniec et al., 2018; Yadav et al., 2019) but for bumblebees, the evidence is still far from conclusive. Whereas the idea of rapid evolution focuses on change over time, evidence for adaptation to anthropogenic environmental change is often only possible to pursue using a spacefor-time substitution approach (i.e. assuming that spatial changes are equivalent to temporal changes, Pickett, 1989). However, it is currently unclear how gene flow constrains such adaptations and thus over which distances and time-frames adaptation to local landscape features and climate can be sought. For example, in bumblebees' genetic differentiation between populations may be small, except when dispersal is constrained by environmental gradients or barriers (Jackson et al., 2018; Lozier et al., 2013). Gene flow and local adaptation are also often described as opposing forces. High gene flow between populations is theorised to homogenize locally adapted genotypes by introducing maladapted or neutral alleles, whereas reduced gene flow increases the chances of genetic adaptation to the local environment (Wadgymar et al., 2019). However, if selective forces are stronger than the homogenizing effects of gene flow, local genetic adaptation may still occur (Tigano & Friesen, 2016). This can be particularly true if genetic differentiation between populations is a result of selection on specific genes whose loci are in strong physical linkage disequilibrium (Barton, 2000). However, gene flow also

maintains genetic variation by adding new (advantageous) alleles into a population, increasing the genetic material for which selection can act upon (Buckley & Bridle, 2014). Thus, it is predicted that gene flow also promotes adaptation to novel environments or to rapidly changing environments if the introduced alleles become introgressed and are beneficial for fitness (Aitken & Whitlock, 2013). To this end, examination of the relative contribution of gene flow, adaptive genetic variation, and neutral genetic diversity is a crucial step toward understanding bee responses to anthropogenic environmental and climatic change.

Intra-specific plastic or evolutionary trait changes in bumblebees related to anthropogenic change

The occurrence of phenotypic plasticity in response to environmental change may initially stabilize the population, which is beneficial as a rapid response that may counter the consequences of environmental stressors (Bonamour et al., 2019). For example, plasticity may broaden trait variation of a species and hence buffer against rapidly changing environments, where e.g. the breadth of temperatures at which a population can survive increases and thus broadens the population's tolerance and gives it time to further adapt (e.g. Lancaster et al., 2015). As plastic responses may in some cases show a more rapid response than adaptive evolutionary changes to anthropogenic change, phenotypic plasticity is considered an important mechanism for species survival (Bonamour et al., 2019). Whether observed adaptive responses are genetically derived, or a result of adaptive phenotypic plasticity (e.g. environmental, or due to developmental constraints) has in most cases not been demonstrated, and bumblebees are not an exception (but see Hart et al., 2022; Jackson et al., 2020). Nevertheless, both plastic and evolutionary responses are relevant for understanding species' sensitivities and adaptive potential, not only for short-term survival but also for long-term survival in the face of anthropogenic change (Hendry, 2016).

In bumblebees, the mean body size of queens of four bumblebee species (*Bombus hortorum, Bombus lapidarius, Bombus pascuorum* and *Bombus pratorum*) increased with increasing landscape fragmentation caused by agricultural intensification (Gérard et al., 2019), and a similar trend was later observed for the same species and *Bombus balteatus* (Gérard et al., 2020). In contrast, smaller *B. terrestris* workers are associated with highly intensively farmed agricultural landscapes (Grass et al., 2021; Nooten & Rehan, 2020; Oliveira et al., 2016; Persson & Smith, 2011). Mixed intra-specific body size responses in relation to urbanization have also been found (Austin et al., 2022; Eggenberger et al., 2019; Tommasi et al., 2022) with bumblebees in urban areas also being found to have higher intraspecific phenotypic variation in body size-associated traits (inter tegular distance, proboscis length, wing- and corbicula length) compared to their non-urban conspecifics (Eggenberger et al., 2019).

Some studies have also documented intra-specific changes in proboscis length over time or differences between populations. Examples include two common alpine species, *B. balteatus* and *B. sylvicola*, in the U.S. where proboscis length has become shorter over 40 years, suggestively in response to a climate change-induced shift in hostplants (Christmas et al., 2022; Miller-Struttmann et al., 2015). Observations of intra-specific bimodality in the proboscis length of a specialist long-tongued bumblebee, *B. pascuorum*, in urban areas have also been documented (Eggenberger et al., 2019). Furthermore, changes in bumblebee wing size as a response to urban environmental stressors and flower abundance in less urbanized areas have been documented (Gérard et al., 2018, Tommasi et al., 2022), and lastly, lower wingloading (body weight in grams divided by the total wing area in cm²) was found for a montane bumblebee species, suggesting adaptation to elevation (Lozier et al., 2021).

Physiological traits are generally highly sensitive to anthropogenic change and are often one of the first responses that occurs for a species (Leroy et al., 2023). Examples from bumblebees include adaptation in regulatory mechanism and cuticle formation to precipitation and neuromuscular function to temperature in alpine habitats (Heraghty et al., 2023; Jackson et al., 2020), suggested neurodevelopment, muscle and detoxification-related adaptation to agricultural stress (Hart et al., 2022), potential selection on insecticide susceptible genes due to insecticide exposure in agricultural areas (Colgan et al., 2022), and heat and oxidative stress responses in relation to urban gradients (Burdine & McCluney, 2019; Theodorou et al., 2018).

However, is not always easy to determine the genomic background underpinning the observed adaptation to novel or changing environmental conditions, especially in the wild (Endler, 2020). By adopting a genomic approach (e.g. such as single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) from whole genome or reduced representation sequencing methods) and integrating environmental and population data, one can attempt to unravel if the observed adaptations are caused by phenotypic plasticity or evolutionary change (Balkenhol et al., 2017; Lancaster et al., 2022). For example, landscape genomic approaches such as Environmental Association Analyses (EAA) where one combines morphometric and environmental analyses to examine the relationship between alleles and the relevant environmental variables can be used (Frichot et al., 2013). More recently, the field is looking beyond SNPs to structural variants within the genome, such as chromosomal inversions or sequence repeats, which can be maintained by selection (Layton & Bradbury, 2022).

The interplay between morphological functional trait variation and invasiveness in bees

Social and eusocial bees are particularly invasive worldwide (Ghisbain et al., 2021; Manfredini et al., 2019; Russo, 2016) and differential selection pressures exerted by novel environments may shape morphological variation that help to facilitate the spread of invasive species (e.g. Common et al., 2020; Yadav et al., 2018). For bumblebees, traits related to dispersal and foraging (Greenleaf et al., 2007; Klumpers et al., 2019), such as body size, wing size, and proboscis length are likely candidates to respond to novel heterogenous environments. Eusocial bees show high plasticity in body size (related to work tasks within the colony) (Chole et al., 2019), and body size is responsive to various environmental conditions (e.g. Theodorou et al., 2020). As for wing size, the trait is related to foraging and dispersal distance in bees (Greenleaf et al., 2007). In addition, changes to dispersal-associated traits (i.e. wings) have been observed for invasive species (Lombaert et al., 2014) and it has been suggested that dispersal capacity may be one of the first traits selection acts on in invasive species (Lee, 2002). Furthermore, proboscis length is suggested to be responsive to changes in local floral resources (Christmas et al., 2022; Miller-Struttmann et al., 2015), which may be beneficial when experiencing novel flower species in novel ranges. Invasive species may also be better prepared to respond to anthropogenic change due to their ability to rapidly adapt to novel environments (e.g. Wiens et al., 2019). How morphological variation in invasive species, irrespective of whether it represents plastic or genetic change, is linked to novel environments may provide insight into how species respond and rapidly adapt to anthropogenic change.

The case of Bombus terrestris

Among the wild pollinating bees that contribute to pollination services of many of the world's natural and agricultural ecosystems, the buff-tailed bumblebee, *B. terrestris* is a key player (Dafni et al., 2010; Goulson, 2003). Unlike many bee species, evidence shows that *B. terrestris* in some areas has increased in abundance, perhaps at the expense of other bumblebee species (Bommarco et al., 2012; Herbertsson et al., 2021) possibly in response to environmental and climatic changes (Ghisbain et al., 2021). In addition, *B. terrestris* has expanded its distribution range in Scandinavia in relation to an increase in mean temperature (Martinet et al., 2015). Since *B. terrestris* is a habitat and diet generalist (Mossberg & Cederberg, 2012; Rasmont et al., 2008), one of the most warm-adapted bumblebee species and predicted to be particularly successful under climate change (Acosta et al., 2016; Ghisbain et al., 2021; Martinet et al., 2021), it is anticipated that *B. terrestris* is less sensitive to land-use and temperature associated anthropogenic change. However,

understanding *B. terrestris* adaptive capacity, whether it is plastic or genetic is relevant for future survival under anthropogenic environmental and climate change.

Due to the efficient buzz pollination and cost-efficiency provided by bumblebees to tomato pollination in greenhouses, commercialization of *B. terrestris* began in the late 1980s and quickly grew worldwide (Dafni et al., 2010). The use of *B. terrestris* grew to include international trade, and by 2006 it was estimated that more than 1 million reared colonies were transported to numerous countries around the world (Velthuis & Van Doorn, 2006). Hence, B. terrestris is now one of the most frequently managed bumblebees (Dafni et al., 2010) and their pollination services have increased yields of several cultivated plants (Messinger et al., 2016). However, one non-intended negative side effect of the expanding industry is that *B. terrestris* is expanding as an invasive species worldwide (Dafni et al., 2010), for example, due to the establishment of feral populations outside of greenhouses, or due to intentional introductions (Schmid-Hempel et al., 2007). More than 11 countries have now reported the occurrence of invasive B. terrestris populations (Dafni et al., 2010) and the magnitude of damage done by managed B. terrestris is well documented (e.g. Morales et al., 2013). Ecological impacts include competition with native pollinators (e.g. Geslin & Morales, 2015; Hingston & McQuillan, 1999) and parasite and pathogen spread (spill-over) to native Bombus species (Evans et al., 2017, but see Pedersen et al., 2020; Trillo et al., 2021)



Wild native *B. terrestris* in Sweden

Commercial *B. terrestris* in Sweden

Wild invasive *B. terrestris* in Tasmania, Australia

Figure 2. Photos of the wild native and commercial study species (*Bombus terrestris*) in Sweden and wild invasive in Tasmania, Australia. Photo credits (left to right): Cecilia Kardum Hjort, Ola Olsson, and Emma Petrolo.

Another consequence of the expanding commercialization of *B. terrestris* is feralmanaged *B. terrestris* hybridizing with local subspecies or other *Bombus* species with potential ecological and evolutionary consequences. Examples include increased competitive displacement of individuals of native *B. terrestris* subspecies due to the increased prevalence of managed *B. terrestris* subspecies adjacent to the greenhouses where they were used for pollination (Trillo et al., 2019), and potential genetic pollution or maladaptation of introgressed hybrids (e.g. Bartomeus et al., 2020; Cejas et al., 2020; Hart et al., 2021; Ings et al., 2010; Seabra et al., 2019; Suni et al., 2017). Subsequently, introgression from commercial feral *B. terrestris* may jeopardize wild population's ability to adapt and withstand future environmental change and ultimately their ability to maintain biodiversity (Bartomeus et al., 2020; Byatt et al., 2015; Kanbe et al., 2008; Kovach et al., 2016; Tsuchida et al., 2010).

One of the most rapid and successful establishments of B. terrestris outside of its native range is its invasion of the Australian island state of Tasmania. The bumblebee was discovered in 1992 (Hingston, 2006; Semmens et al., 1993) most likely as a result of an intentional, but illegal, introduction by farmers for tomato greenhouse pollination (Schmid-Hempel et al., 2007). The introduced Tasmanian B. terrestris originates from New Zealand where the bumblebee was intentionally introduced from the UK for crop pollination in 1881 (Schmid-Hempel et al., 2007). Within 30 years of its introduction, the distribution of *B. terrestris* now encompasses almost entire Tasmania (Hingston et al., 2002) and is reported to have negatively impacted the island's ecosystems. For example, invasive B. terrestris compete and displace native bees and pollinators (Hingston & McQuillan, 1999; Hingston & Wotherspoon, 2017) which in turn has reduced the pollination efficiency of native plants in Tasmania due to nectar robbing or physical damage to flowers (Hingston & McQuillan, 1998b) and facilitated a faster spread of invasive weeds by increasing their seed production (Hingston & McQuillan, 1998a). There is also a high predicted risk of *B. terrestris* spreading further within the southern temperate and sub-tropical regions of Australia (Acosta et al., 2016). Information on whether adaptation in functional traits to the novel environmental conditions of Tasmania has aided this successful invasion may provide insights into the ability of *B. terrestris* (and other *Bombus* species) to spread and adapt beyond its current invasive range. In summary, B. terrestris is a species affected by anthropogenic change and may be coping by local (plastic or evolutionary) adaptation but is also impairing other pollinators in both native and novel ranges, making it an interesting species to study.

Thesis aims

The overarching aim of my PhD project is to investigate how wild *B. terrestris* populations respond to anthropogenic land use and climate change, to novel environments, and to the use of managed conspecific bees, via examination of their morphological and genetic variation. I examine this in wild native (Sweden) (Chapter I) *B. terrestris* across landscape and climate gradients, and in wild invasive *B. terrestris* across novel environments (Tasmania, Australia) (Chapters III and IV), but also in an introduced commercially managed sub-species of *B. terrestris* (Sweden) (Chapter II).

In **Chapter I** of my thesis, I investigate evidence for genomic introgression between wild and commercial populations of *B. terrestris* using whole-genome sequencing (WGS). Additionally, I investigate the existing genomic differences between wild and commercial *B. terrestris*. Based on differences between *B. terrestris* sub-species in e.g. phenology, foraging efficiency, colony size, and parasite resistance (Rasmont et al., 2008), I predicted that possible introgression events may result in maladapted wild *B. terrestris* hybrid populations or hybrids with a competitive advantage over wild *B. terrestris* populations. This study provides information on possible evolutionary consequences of using commercial *B. terrestris* when wild conspecifics are present.

In **Chapter II** of my thesis, I address if the wild Swedish *B. terrestris* population is morphologically and genetically divergent and shows selection signatures across a landscape and climate gradient, despite predicted high gene flow, using ddRAD. I also aim to investigate effective migration patterns and environmental barriers to gene flow. Due to the commonly high gene flow and low genetic structure among (generalist) bumblebee species (Colgan et al., 2022, Heraghty et al., 2023), I predicted that the Swedish *B. terrestris* population would show similar patterns and thus weak local genetic adaptation across the study gradient. However, I predicted that weak signs of genetic structure are present due to, for example, landscape spatial differences or demographic differences. The results shed light on how a generalist bumblebee species is coping with anthropogenic change by adapting with or without evolutionary responses.

In **Chapter III** of my thesis, I study if the recently introduced (~1992) *B. terrestris* exhibits significant variation in morphology and abundance related to environmental variables across Tasmania, Australia, facilitating its invasion success. Based on *B. terrestris* being a broad habitat generalist (Mossberg & Cederberg, 2012), that the Tasmanian environment and climate are somewhat similar to its native ranges, combined with numerous examples of its rapid invasiveness worldwide (Dafni et al., 2010), I predicted that *B. terrestris* is displaying morphological differences that have aided its invasion success. This

study will help in the understanding of the role of morphological and environmental variation in determining invasive ranges.

Lastly, in **Chapter IV** I examine if *B. terrestris* is showing selection in functional genes and morphology in relation to the novel environmental and climatic conditions across Tasmania, using sdRAD sequencing. Based on previous predictions in Chapter III combined with the already documented knowledge of low genetic diversity in the Tasmanian *B. terrestris* (Schmid-Hempel et al., 2007), I predicted that any morphological or environmental adaptations will be weak and thus low genetic differentiation and that it may be non-genetic mechanisms governing *B. terrestris* invasion success. Understanding how *B. terrestris* may be thriving and persisting in novel environments, with or without genomic adaptations, may help predict future range expansion beyond its current distributions.

Material and methods

Study designs and data collection

The data used in this thesis is based on three different study systems: two in Sweden (Figure 3, Chapter I and Figure 4a-b, Chapter II) and one in Tasmania, Australia (Figure 5, Chapters III and IV).

Experimental landscape design (Sweden, Chapter I)

For Chapter I, we set up an experimental study system in southern Sweden with a total of 10 sampling sites, of which six sites had long-term use of commercial B. terrestris used for agricultural pollination practices ('experimental sites') and four were without long-term use of commercial B. terrestris ('control sites'). At the experimental sites, wild *B. terrestris* workers were collected between 700-1000 m from the closest greenhouse, open tunnel cultivation, and/ or free land with commercial colonies present (Figure 3). At the control sites, wild *B. terrestris* workers were collected at least 15 km from the closest commercial colony. We also collected commercial *B. terrestris* at the experimental sites and in our general study region (Figure 3). The experimental design was aimed to determine the occurrence and extent of genomic introgression of commercial B. terrestris genetic material into wild *B. terrestris* genomes. Ideally, to investigate such genomic patterns, one should sample bumblebees before and after commercial bees have been introduced to the area, however, this was not logistically feasible, and contemporary spatial ecological patterns are instead predicted to roughly be equivalent to changes over time (i.e. space-for-time substitution approach). All wild foraging or flying bumblebees were collected using handheld sweep nets.



Figure 3. Map over the study sites and system in Sweden, showing data collected for **Chapter I**, where green circles (N=18) in the map represent collected CB, purple triangles (N=6) WE, and purple diamonds (N=4) WC. The zoomed-in circle to the left shows the experimental sites and the three types of agricultural practices using commercial bumblebees (open tunnel cultivation, greenhouse, and free land). The zoomed-in circle to the right shows the control sites. The figure is modified from Kardum Hjort et al. 2022.

Simple and complex landscape and temperature study design (Sweden, Chapter II)

For **Chapter II**, we designed a study system across land use and temperature gradients from southern to central Sweden (Figure 4a-b). Our 19 study sites differed in the extent of landscape simplification, where high percentages of semi-natural habitats (SNH) (129-195 hectares) and the length of uncultivated agricultural field borders (FB) (280-450 km) reflected 'complex' landscapes (Figure 4c, top right), and low percentages of SNH (10-19 hectare) and FB (190-260 km) reflected 'simple' landscapes (Figure 4c, bottom left). The amount of SNH was intended to reflect compositional landscape changes (Figure 4c, bottom panel)(Fahrig et al., 2011) in the availability of important habitats with wildflowers and nesting sites for bees. Uncultivated agricultural field border length was intended as a proxy for agricultural field size and thus reflecting habitat availability and fragmentation (see Figure 6 for an example of a study site in region 1, Skåne).

The 19 study sites also differed in the maximum temperature of the warmest month (°C, hereafter 'MaxTempWarmestMonth'), averaged between 1970-2000 from WorldClim v2.1 and with a resolution of 1 km^2 (Fick & Hijmans, 2017) to reflect local temperature differences between the study regions (Figure 4b). The study was designed as a paired design, to reduce local effects across the design, where we matched simple and complex landscapes in the same region, with each pair having approximately the same MaxTempWarmestMonth, but with temperature variation from the southernmost to the northernmost landscape pairs. Wild *B. terrestris* workers were collected using sweep nets at pre-existing flower-rich habitats such as linear elements (e.g. road verges) and in SNH at different locations within the circle and between two time points (June and July 2019).

Other environmental and climate variables

We also extracted information for environmental variables previously identified as important to several *Bombus* species' abundances and distributions (Geue & Thomassen, 2020; Herbertsson et al., 2021; Kardum Hjort et al., 2023a; Kardum Hjort et al., 2023b; Penado et al., 2016; Rasmont et al., 2008; Svensson et al., 2000) and used them to investigate additional potential gene-environment associations. The variables included: mean annual temperature (hereafter 'MeanAnnualTemp' in °C), mean annual precipitation ('MeanAnnualPrecip' in mm), precipitation seasonality ('SeasonPrecip', the difference between the wettest and driest month, measured as a percentage), averaged values for June to August of the monthly variables of mean annual wind speed (m/s) ('AvgSummerWind' in m/s), percentage of urban land cover, percentage of forest land cover, percentage of agricultural land cover, and canopy height (m) (see Chapter II for details).



Figure 4. Maps over the study sites and systems in Sweden, showing data collected for **Chapter II**, where a) simple sampling sites are shown as blue circles and complex sampling sites as orange circles across the geographical gradient. The zoomed-in circles show an example of a complex and simple sampling site. The light green in the zoomed-in circles represents semi-natural habitat (SNH) and the brown lines represent uncultivated agricultural field borders (FB); b) the maximum temperature of the warmest month (°C) across the study regions is presented; c) Landscape heterogeneity is shown as differences in composition and configuration of agricultural fields (beige and brown) and SNH habitats (green).

Environmental and climatic study design (Tasmania, Australia, Chapters III and IV)

We used the same study design for **Chapters III** and **IV**, where we selected the sampling sites based on previous recordings of *B. terrestris* across Tasmania (Hingston et al. 2002, Hingston 2006a) and additional new sites. The sites naturally differed in land use, a wide range of climatic conditions, topography, and vegetation structure and height (see Figure 5 for an example of different land use classes). At each site, *B. terrestris* workers were generally sampled in open areas with flowers present (e.g. along road verges, in patches of grass with flowers, gardens, and parks) using sweep nets during February 2020 (Figure 6).



Figure 5. Map over the study sites (N=16) and system in Tasmania, Australia, showing data collected for **Chapters III** and **IV**. The three zoomed-in circles show examples of different land use; (left) production of native forest, nature conservation, reservoir/dam, rural residential and farm infrastructure, plantation forests, urban residential, grazing modified pastures, (middle) urban services, urban transport and communication, river, nature conservation, (right) cropping, grazing native vegetation and production of native forest.
Overview of methodologies

Morphological measurements

In all **four chapters**, the collected bumblebees were placed in 5 ml plastic tubes that were kept in cooling boxes (5°C) to induce chill coma (loss of flight muscle function, MacMillan and Sinclair 2011). They were subsequently euthanized in a freezer (-20° C) for approximately 3 hours before preservation in 70% ethanol.

In **Chapters II-IV**, we measured a suite of morphological variables from the collected and euthanized bumblebees (Figure 6). Measurements entailed: body length (mm), body weight (g), inter-tegular distance (ITD) (mm), proboscis length (prementum and glossa, mm), length and area of one small and large wing (mm and mm², for total wing area one wing pair, was multiplied by two) and wing loading (body weight in grams divided by the total wing area of four wings in cm²) (see Chapter III for details on measurements).

Laboratory work

DNA extractions, barcoding, and sequencing

For Chapter I, genomic DNA was extracted from the head and two legs of each bumblebee using a Qiagen Blood & Tissue Extraction Kit (QIAGEN GmbH) following a modified version of the manufacturer's Supplementary Protocol. Firstly, to confirm species identification, the COI mitochondrial gene was amplified using the protocol of Wahlberg and Wheat (2008) and sent to Macrogen Europe for Sanger sequencing. DNA from the correct species (i.e. B. terrestris), was sent for whole genome sequencing (WGS) to SciLifeLab (Stockholm). For Chapter II, DNA was extracted from one leg of each bumblebee using a HotSHOT protocol (in-house), and the same procedure was adopted to confirm species identification as in Chapter I. In addition, the head and two legs of the correctly identified species were sent for DNA extraction at the Diversity Arrays Technology sequencing (DArTseq) facility (Canberra, Australia). At the DArTseq facility, extracted DNA was sequenced using double digest restriction-site associated DNA (ddRAD). Lastly, for Chapter IV, DNA was extracted following the same modified Oiagen Blood & Tissue Extraction Kit protocol as in Chapter I. DNA was subsequently sent to Floragenex, Inc. (Portland, OR, USA), where they were sequenced using a single digest restrictionsite associated DNA (sdRAD).



Cecilia and Sanne catching *B. terrestris* in Tasmania, Australia at a study site



Study site in region 1 (Skåne, Sweden)

Figure 6. Photos of morphological measuring, data collection in Tasmania, a Swedish study site and bumblebee processing. Photo credits *B. terrestris* collected in Tasmania: Emma Petrolo and study site in Skåne: Josefin Winberg.





Wings and proboscis from *B. terrestris* is photographed with a digital camera microscope and later measured in ImageJ (Sweden) (*Top right*). Sanne processing collected *B. terrestris (bottom right)*



Bioinformatics, gene annotations and statistical analyses

For **Chapters I, II,** and **IV** we used different bioinformatic pipelines because of the different DNA sequencing techniques used to generate data (i.e. WGS data, sdRADseq data, and ddRADseq) for dataset quality controls, SNP variant calling and SNP filtering to create the final SNP datasets used for analyses in this thesis. The bioinformatics computations and some of the analyses (see below) were run on a supercluster through the Uppsala Multidisciplinary Centre for Advanced Computational Science (UPPMAX).

Summary of whole-genome assembly, alignment to reference genome and SNP calling

For **Chapter I**, WGS sequencing reads were mapped to the *B. terrestris* reference genome (Sadd et al., 2015) (assembly accession: GCF000214255.1) using the portable workflow for whole-genome sequencing analysis in 'Sarek' (Garcia et al., 2020). Reads were mapped using Burrows-Wheeler Aligner (BWA- mem) (Heng Li & Durbin, 2009). SNP calling was performed using two softwares, HaplotypeCaller (Poplin et al., 2017) and FreeBayes (Garrison & Marth, 2012), and subsequently intersected to create a final SNP dataset. For **Chapters II** and **IV**, reads were aligned to the *B. terrestris* reference genome (assembly accession: GCF000214255.1 and GCF_910591885.1, respectively) using the BWA- mem. For **Chapter II**, the sequencing facility Diversity Arrays Technology sequencing (DArT) (Canberra, Australia) performed the SNP calling, quality check, and initial SNP filtering. The dataset was further filtered by me using the *dartR* package (Mijangos et al., 2022) in R v4.3.1 (R Core Team, 2022). For **Chapter IV**, the dataset was filtered using Stacks v2.60 (Catchen et al., 2013) (see each chapter for detailed SNP filtering steps and filtering parameters).

Gene annotation

In **Chapter I**, to explore the candidate genes, gene ID, start and end position, accession IDs, and gene names were extracted from the *B. terrestris* reference genome. The gene names and potential functions of the genes were identified using the National Centre for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) gene information database. In addition, a gene ontology enrichment analysis (GO) was performed using the R package *biomaRt* via Bioconductor v. 3.12 (Durinck et al., 2009) on the identified candidate genes. The candidate genes were also matched with the KEGG (Kyoto Encyclopaedia of Genes and Genomes) ENZYME database to identify potential enzymes and their function using *biomaRt*.

In **Chapters II** and **IV**, the aligned candidate reads were intersected with the reference genome annotation file, and gene information was extracted. The gene names and potential functions of the genes were also identified using the NCBI gene information database as in Chapter I. We also annotated the candidate genes against

the *B. terrestris* reference genome using the Ensembl Variant Effect Predictor tool (VEP) in the EnsemblMetazoa database to identify any protein-coding genes and the type of effect (e.g., intron, missense variant, and synonymous variant). For **Chapter IV**, we also performed a GO analysis, while it could not be done for Chapter II. The database within the *biomaRt* R package used for GO analysis had been updated to include gene information based on the newest *B. terrestris* reference genome (GCF_910591885.1) while the reads had been aligned by DArT to a previous version.

Genetic structure, genetic diversity, and selection detection analyses

We used UPPMAX to investigate the genetic structure for **Chapter I**, running pairwise F^{ST} using PopGenome (Pfeifer et al., 2014), Tajima's D using the *--TajimaD* option in VCFtools, ADMIXTURE (Alexander & Lange, 2011) and fineSTRUCTUE (Alexander & Lange, 2011). To investigate for signatures of selection in Chapter I, we ran the cross-population extended haplotype homozygosity statistical test (XP- EHH) in selscan (Szpiech & Hernandez, 2014) and identified overlapping regions of high F^{ST} and XP-EHH scores. In addition, we also ran two structural variants (SV) detection programs: Smoove, which uses lumpy (Layer et al., 2014), and Breakdancer (Fan et al., 2014). To assess intrachromosomal SNPs in linkage, we used Plink (Purcell et al., 2007).

Using R v4.3.1 (R Core Team, 2022), we also ran Principal Component of Analysis (PCA) using the *adegenet* package (Jombart & Ahmed, 2011) to get a first look at the genetic structure for Chapter I. To also investigate the genetic diversity we calculated the number of segregating sites (Watterson's theta, θw) (Watterson, 1975), nucleotide diversity (Nei's pi, π) (Nei, 1979) in 10kb windows genome-wide and per chromosome using *PopGenome*. In addition to the selection analyses run in UPPMAX, we also ran *lostuct* (Han Li & Ralph, 2019) to visualise local chromosomal deviations.

To investigate the genetic structure for **Chapters II** and **IV**, we ran PCAs using the *adegenet* package, pairwise F^{ST} analyses using *hierfstat* (Goudet, 2005), Isolation by Distance (IBD), Discriminant Analysis of Principal Components (DAPC) analyses using the *adegenet* package, ADMIXTURE, and fineRADSTRUCTURE. In addition, to visualize spatial genetic structure and historic gene flow, we implemented the Estimated Effective Migration Surface method (EEMS) (Petkova et al., 2015) which generates historic effective migration rates and diversity from geo-referenced genetic samples. We used *Hierfstat* (Goudet, 2005) to calculate genetic diversity, allelic richness (A_R), observed and expected heterozygosity (H_o and H_E), and the inbreeding coefficient (F_{IS}) (for Chapter II, we used the *--het* option in VCFtools to calculate F_{IS}) for Chapters II and IV.

To correct for multicollinearity among predictor variables, we used *pairs.panel* within the R package *psych*. To investigate signatures of selection, we ran univariate

Latent Factor Mixed Modelling analyses (LFMM) (Frichot et al., 2013) using the *lfmm* package in R (Caye et al., 2019) and multivariate Redundancy Analyses (RDA) (Forester et al., 2018) using the *rda* function in the *vegan* package (Oksanen et al., 2013).

Morphology X environmental analysis and relative abundance

For **Chapter III**, we assessed multicollinearity among the predictor variables using *pairs.panel* within the R package *psych*. To assess inter- versus intra-site variation in bee morphology, we calculated the intra-class correlation coefficient as the site-level repeatability (R) for each of the three dependent variables using the R-package *rptR* (Nakagawa & Schielzeth, 2010). When estimating site-level repeatability for proboscis length, we controlled for body size by including it as a fixed effect. To investigate environmental x morphology correlations, we used linear mixed-effects models (LMM, lme4), using Site ID as a random effect to control for non-independence of individuals sampled at the same site. In analyses of body weight and proboscis length, both linear and quadratic effects of urban area were included, since a test of linearity indicated the relationships to urbanization were non-linear. To identify significant predictors we used stepwise elimination to yield a final model with only significant effects ($p \le 0.05$, *lmertest*, Kuznetsova et al., 2017). We examined the diagnostic plots to ensure that our data met the model assumptions, using the R package *DHARMA* (Hartig, 2022).

To investigate the site relative abundance, we used a Poisson generalized linear mixed-effects model (GLMM) with a log link using the R package *lme4* (D. Bates et al., 2015), treating the total number of bees captured per site as the dependent variable. We included an offset log-link in the model to account for different sampling efforts between the sites. Site ID was included in the model as an observation-level random effect to account for over-dispersion (Harrison, 2014). Insignificant fixed effects were pruned using likelihood-ratio tests of significance (calculated from chi-squared distributions) to yield a final model with significant fixed effects.

For all chapters, statistical analyses and visualisation of results and data (also from analyses run in UPPMAX) were performed in R v4.3.1 (R Core Team, 2022) (see each chapter for details).

Results and discussion

This thesis provides a unique understanding of how both wild native and invasive bumblebees respond morphologically and genetically to anthropogenic environmental and climatic differences and novel environments, as well as how commercial *B. terrestris* affects wild bees. My results show genomic differences between commercial *B. terrestris* and wild native *B. terrestris*, suggesting that hybridization may pose a problem, but possibly only under future climate conditions since I found no evidence of present genomic introgression which may reflect poor adaptation of commercial bees to the Swedish climate. Across its wild native range, the *B. terrestris* population shows weak genetic structure and high gene flow, although with signatures of local genetic adaptation. Despite a severe founding bottleneck, potentially constraining adaptive potential, the invasive *B. terrestris* is experiencing novel selection pressures and shows evidence of both morphological and genetic adaptation across heterogeneous environments in Tasmania (Australia).

The influence of commercial *B. terrestris* on wild native *B. terrestris* and genomic differences (Chapter I)

Chapter I was based on the contention that different *B. terrestris* subspecies differ in traits related to phenology, foraging efficiency, colony size, and parasite resistance (Rasmont et al., 2008). These differences in combination with divergent selection processes in wild and commercial B. terrestris (discussed in more detail below), imply that introgression events could result in hybrids that have a competitive advantage over wild B. terrestris or lead to maladapted hybrid populations due to the phenological or evolutionary differences. However, our results demonstrated no evidence of introgression between wild and commercial B. *terrestris* (Figure 7), suggesting that the historical use (≥ 25 years in certain areas) of commercial bees has not affected the evolutionary processes of wild bees in southern Sweden. The discrepancy of previously documented results of wild-native introgression in, e.g. the Iberian Peninsula (Bartomeus et al., 2020; Cejas et al., 2018, 2020; Seabra et al., 2019) and no evidence of introgression in our study and the UK or New England, US (Hart et al., 2021; Suni et al., 2017), may have several explanations. For example, studies have been conducted on many B. terrestris subspecies and some of the subspecies are known to show preferences towards consubspecific (Rasmont et al., 2008), thus pre-mating isolation barriers might be one explanation. In addition, post-mating isolation barriers in hybrids may also prevent the spread of hybrids due to inviable hybrids (Kanbe et al., 2008). However, hybrids of different subspecies do occur, e.g. in the Iberian Peninsula (Cejas et al., 2018, 2020, Seabra et al., 2019, Bartomeus et al., 2020). Furthermore, the scale of commercial bumblebee operations in the Iberian Peninsula is much greater compared to, for example Sweden (~ 4500 colonies per year, Pedersen et al., 2020, compared to ~ 300,000 colonies per year in Spain; Cejas et al., 2020), which may result in a genetic source-sink situation overcoming selection against commercial bees and hybrids in the wild.



Figure 7. Genetic structure and admixture proportions of the dataset, showing a) that commercial (CB) and all wild (WE and WC) *B. terrestris* are genetically separated; b and c) no evidence of introgressed hybrids. The figure is modified from Kardum Hjort et al. (2022) (Chapter I).

The identification of two distinct genetic clusters, separating wild bees from commercial bees (Figure 7), may be due to the documented highly divergent region on chromosome 11 in the commercial bees (Figure 8). This was indicated on chromosome 11 by high pairwise FST (median $F_{ST} = 0.04$) (Figure 8a) together with stretches of extended homozygotic haplotypes (i.e. positive selection) (XP-EHH analysis) (Figure 8b), reduced genetic diversity (Figure 8c), chromosomal deviations (e.g. structural variants, using Multidimensional scaling, MDS) (Figure 8d), and SNPs in high linkage (Figure 8e). The observed selection of genes, involved in flight capacity and pathogen response present in this region may be related to environmental differences. For example, commercial *B. terrestris* are bred in

laboratory conditions for several generations which may generate genomic differences and subsequently result in different ecological requirements.



Figure 8. a) Genetic differentiation (pairwise F_{ST}) between the two groups; b) standard mean XP- EHH scores for chromosome 11 for CB (red SNPs indicate the upper 99% and lower 1% confidence intervals); c) delta nucleotide diversity along chromosome 11; d) multidimensional scaling (MDS) plot of chromosome 11. Each point represents a window where the red points show windows with increased genetic differentiation from the rest of the chromosome; e) pairwise (wild and commercial *B. terrestris*) linkage disequilibrium (LD) heatmap, calculated using r squared. The figure is modified from Kardum Hjort et al. (2022) (Chapter I).

The marginally higher genetic diversity (Π) observed in wild *B. terrestris* compared to that in commercial bees (Figure 9a) could be due to our sampling of workers from several different wild colonies, while the commercial *B. terrestris* were collected from individual commercial "stocks" that might be less diverse. This may also

explain the observed higher Watterson's theta (θ w) in the commercial bees (Figure 9b). Both groups had a positive Tajima's D, but it was higher for wild *B. terrestris*, which suggests that they share more of their diversity (i.e. have less rare alleles). Our results from Chapter II which documented low genetic structure in wild *B. terrestris* confirm this pattern. The commercial *B. terrestris* on the other hand comes from mixed European origins (Pedersen et al., 2020), which may result in a more diverse group (i.e. more rare alleles), thus lower Tajima's D (Figure 9c).



Figure 9. a) Nucleotide diversity (π) on a log10 scale; b) Watterson's theta (θ w); c) Tajima's D for the CB (green) group and WB (purple) group. Dashed lines represent medians. The figure is modified from Kardum Hjort et al. (2022) (Chapter I).

While we did not identify any current genetic threat from commercial bees, there may nevertheless be reason for concern for future hybridization. If the reason we do not observe any hybrids in the wild has to do with purging of hybrids, then if the size of commercial bumblebee operations grows, increasing the amount of feral commercial bumblebees, the selection pressure against hybrids might be overridden.

In addition, the observed genetic differences between wild Swedish and commercial *B. terrestris* might pose a problem if successful hybridization occurs due to the potential genetic consequences of artificial breeding in the lab. Furthermore, if commercial practices start breeding on the same subspecies, which might result in successful hybridization, future hybrids might have traits more adapted to the local environment threatening the survival of the wild *B. terrestris* population. However, hybridization between local subspecies might, on the other hand, pose much less of

a problem than hybridization between differently adapted subspecies because it is assumed that differences in phenology between the subspecies lead to different climatic requirements (Lecocq et al., 2016). Lastly, the survival chances of hibernating hybrid queens in Sweden under a warming climate may increase if the commercial practices continue to breed on *B. terrestris* from southern parts of Europe, thus resulting in the spread and survival of hybrids.

Landscape and climate effects on gene flow and selection in native bumblebees, *B. terrestris* (Chapter II)

Chapter II gave us the opportunity to study the wild generalist *B. terrestris* in Sweden in the context of anthropogenic change impacts (Gérard et al., 2018; Grass et al., 2021; Theodorou et al., 2020; Tommasi et al., 2022) or benefits (Ghisbain et al., 2021). By investigating if human-induced land-use change and differences in local climate affect wild *B. terrestris* populations in Sweden, causing morphological and genetic divergence, my thesis sheds light on how a generalist species can cope under anthropogenic environmental change.

Our results showed no evidence of gene-by-environment interactions with respect to agricultural landscape simplification (i.e. the proportion of SNH and the length of uncultivated agricultural field borders). This lack of pattern suggests that B. terrestris as a large and mobile species may be able to exploit fragmented agricultural landscapes without additional genetic adaptations. Instead, there were weak selection signatures to the proportion of agricultural cover related to genes (glutamate receptor 1, acetylcholinesterase and guanine nucleotide-binding proteins, cAMP-specific 3',5'-cyclic phosphodiesterase, cadherin-87A, and odorant receptor 82A) with potential functional effects linked to olfaction, memory, infection response, insecticide response, and resistance. Thus, selection pressures related to differences in agricultural cover that are also associated with higher and/or longer exposure to insecticides (Knapp et al., 2023) may have contributed to the observed pattern of genetic divergence. The southern region has a higher proportion of agricultural cover compared to the central and more northern regions sampled (Figure 10a). Interestingly, other studies have observed genes related to detoxification in insecticide-stressed bumblebees in agricultural areas (Hart et al., 2022), and also heritable resistance to insecticides in honeybees (Apis sp.) (Tsvetkov et al., 2023).



Figure 10. a) Genetic structure of the 304 *B. terrestris* individuals displayed over agricultural land cover across our sampling design with forest cover as the background map. The circles and the proportion of either red or blue represent the mean assignment probability of either genetic cluster one or two (K=2, admixture analysis), shown at the population level for each of the 19 sites; b) surface of effective migration (m) plot generated by EEMS of the Swedish *B. terrestris* population. Log(m)= within Sweden, white represents average, blue represents higher-than-average, and brown represents lower-than-average effective migration. The 19 sampling sites are represented as black circles; c) Map showing first-year observation of *B. terrestris* across Sweden from 1970-2023. Yellow dots represent the first observations between 1970-2008, green dots between 2009-2015, and red dots from 2016-2023. The figure is modified from Chapter II.

Genetic variation and diversity within and between regions were low (H₀= 0.126-0.137, pairwise F_{ST} = -0.0009-0.0064, global F_{ST} = 0.001) despite the designed differences in landscape across the geographical gradient and may have prevented any stronger local adaptation, perhaps except to large-scale changes. Although, local genetic adaptation to environmental and climatic variables, despite high gene flow is possible and documented for other *Bombus* species (Hart et al., 2022; Heraghty et al., 2023; Jackson et al., 2020; Theodorou et al., 2018). Previous studies confirmed observed low genetic variation within the entire Eurasian *B. terrestris* population, suggestively caused by a historic genetic bottleneck from which the population did not genetically recover despite being followed by a population expansion (Ranjbaran et al., 2024). Adequate gene flow due to high dispersal abilities and little geographical barriers between the entire Eurasian *B. terrestris* population might also explain why the population is mostly homogeneous (Estoup et al., 1996; Woodard et al., 2015).

We did however document restricted gene flow across an area consisting of predominantly dense forest (Figure 10a-b). Since *B. terrestris* predominately occurs in more open areas (Svensson et al., 2000), such a forested area might act as a dispersal barrier between the southern and more northern regions. As a result, two genetic clusters separating the southern region from the most northern region were observed (Figure 10a,10b). However, due to climate change, the suitability of habitats in Sweden for *B. terrestris* has increased (Martinet et al., 2015; Ranibaran et al., 2024). Our results of negative Tajima's D (i.e. population expansion) suggest this in addition to the results of a more inland and northwards expansion (Figure 10c). Our findings also agree with previous predictions about B. terrestris expanding northwards in Europe due to climate change (Ghisbain et al., 2021; Ranjbaran et al., 2024). Interestingly, B. terrestris might be expanding into new areas without high genetic variation or strong genetic adaptations if the habitat is sufficiently suitable (Maebe et al., 2019). Even though *B. terrestris* is seemingly coping with climate change the low genetic diversity does make the population vulnerable to future climatic oscillations, which in conclusion suggests that the species' survival is not yet settled.

Novel environmental and climatic influences on genetic divergence, gene flow, and adaptation in invasive *B*. *terrestris* (Chapters III and IV)

Chapters III and IV focus on *B. terrestris* as an invasive species in Tasmania, where the species was introduced approximately 30 years ago. **Chapter III** investigated whether invasive *B. terrestris* exhibited morphological divergence and if the abundance varied across a novel environment in Tasmania, Australia. In **Chapter IV** we investigated for signatures of selection on functional genes associating with environmental variables and morphology across Tasmania. These two chapters help to unravel whether the success of the *B. terrestris* invasion is partly due to morphological and environmental adaptation.



Figure 11. The relationship between a) log body weight (g) and % (logit) urban area with both linear and quadratic effects (p <0.001) fitted; b) log proboscis (mm) and (logit) % pasture (p= 0.0015), in both cases using the final LMM models. Marginal predictions, 95 % confidence intervals, and partial residuals were calculated based on the averages for the other variables for each model. Overdispersion was handled using site-level random effects. Each sampling site is indicated by an individual colour. The figure is modified from Kardum Hjort et al. (2023b) (Chapter III).

In **Chapter III**, results showed evidence for morphological variation in *B. terrestris* correlating with environmental conditions across Tasmania. Body size of *B. terrestris* workers was positively related to the percentage of urban land cover, which however was largely driven by a single site (Hobart) with the highest

percentage of urban cover (87%) (Figure 11a). Our results conform with other studies of observations of larger *B. terrestris* and *B. impatiens* in areas with higher urban cover but are in contrast to finding smaller *B. pascorum* and *B. pensylvanicus* in areas with higher urban cover (Austin et al., 2022; Eggenberger et al., 2019; Theodorou et al., 2020). Arguably, our and previous results may reflect plastic responses to either high or low availability of food resources in urban areas but may also be an adaptive response to habitat fragmentation.

To explore if the observed relationship is evident in more highly urbanized areas, we could have sampled *B. terrestris* in more sites with high urban cover. However, the second largest city after Hobart (approx. 200, 000) is Launceston (approx. 87, 000) which is less than half the size of Hobart. Adopting an urban gradient sampling design, from high to low cover, is another feasible way to explore if the relationship between body size and urban cover changes.

Proboscis length showed a negative correlation with the environment. However, our result of shorter proboscis length in relation to higher proportions of pasture was weak (Figure 11b). In addition, proboscis length may be associated with intensive agriculture instead of pasture. The mid-central region of Tasmania with higher proportions of pasture does not necessarily represent a flower-rich habitat but instead consists of intensive pasture-based agricultural production linked to high-intensity cropping of grasses with little value to bumblebees (Lane et al., 2015). Similarly, as mentioned above, we could have included more sites with higher proportions of pasture to explore the observed relationship further. Nevertheless, the morphological variation found in the invasive *B. terrestris* may have contributed to its successful invasion by being able to utilize urban areas and adapt to scarce flower diversity in a pasture-dominant landscape.

Results from **Chapter IV** showed overall low genetic divergence (pairwise F_{ST} = -0.0031 to 0.014, global F_{ST} = 0.005) and diversity (H₀= 0.107- 0.112) across Tasmania, suggestively because of the severe bottleneck of just three founding queens. Our results are however comparable with invasive *B. terrestris* in Japan (pairwise F_{ST} between two sites= 0.006, Nagamitsu & Yamagishi, 2009). Interestingly, the Tasmanian *B. terrestris* population has higher genetic structuring compared to the Swedish *B. terrestris* population (global F_{ST} = 0.001, Chapter II). Although, both populations have low genetic differentiation and the values are comparable with *B. terrestris* and other *Bombus* species on the European continent (Estoup et al., 1996; Glück et al., 2022; Maebe et al., 2019; Theodorou et al., 2018). The novel environmental and climatic conditions of Tasmania might exert stronger selection pressures on the Tasmanian *B. terrestris* population compared to the observed genetic structure.



Figure 12. a) EEMS generated plot displaying estimated effective migration rates (m) of the Tasmanian *B. terrestris* population; b) population genetic structure of Tasmanian *B. terrestris* generated by a DAPC (the label for site 18 is hidden behind the label for site 20) which shows a South-North division of the sampling sites along DAPC1 (axis 1); c) map of sampling sites across Tasmania coloured accordingly to the DAPC plot plotted over precipitation seasonality (%); d) RDA analysis of the environmental variables showing axes 1 and 2. Grey dots indicate non-candidate SNPs and coloured dots indicate candidate outlier SNPs (±2.5 SD), colour-coded by the environmental variables. The longer the arrows, the stronger the relationship is between the outlier SNPs and the predictor variables. BIO15= SeasonPrecip, BIO01= MeanAnnualTemp. The figure is modified from Kardum Hjort et al. (2023a) (Chapter IV).

The observed band of lower gene flow spanning across mid-central Tasmania has likely contributed to the subtle observed genetic structure, separating the southern and northern sites (Figure 12a-b) and to signatures of selection to precipitation and wind (Figure 12c, 12d). Parts of this area consist of intensive cropping of perennial grasses (i.e. pasture) with scant flower resources (around and south of site 20) and an area of higher elevation (around sites 6 and 23) which previously has been identified as less suitable habitat for *B. terrestris* in Tasmania (Acosta et al., 2016). This result alludes to the common assumption that genetically impoverished

invasive species have reduced adaptability in novel environments. Like our results, genetic adaptation in (native) *Bombus* species, also with low genetic divergence has been observed in relation to agriculture and genes relating to wing development and neuromuscular functions (Colgan et al., 2022; Hart et al., 2022; Heraghty et al., 2023) which may suggest that adaptation can occur despite the homogenizing effects of high gene flow, perhaps if selection is strong enough.

Our results cannot directly answer if the genetic adaptations have aided the successful invasion of *B. terrestris* across Tasmania but being able to adapt to high precipitation variation via cuticle-regulated water loss prevention may be important when environmental conditions are dryer. In addition, foraging under windy conditions may be more energetically costly, such that selection on fatty acid metabolism may have helped B. terrestris be able to forage under harsher conditions. Furthermore, B. terrestris ability to spread across the island may involve selection related to flight muscles and thus to the candidate gene titin, which is a muscle structure protein. We did not find support for a genetic underlying mechanism to the observed morphological differences in Chapter III. This suggests that these rather were plastic responses to urban environments and pasture-based agriculture, respectively. We did however find putative selection on wing-loading, a trait that was not associated with any environmental variables in Chapter III. Since higher wing-loading (i.e. larger body in relation to wing area) may put more constraints on the thoracic flight muscles during flight (Byrne et al., 1988) the observed selection on stabilising muscle-tendon attachment (mechanosensitive adaptor protein talin) might suggest adaptation in flying mechanisms.

In summary, **Chapters III** and **IV** showed that both plastic and genetic adaptations may govern the invasion success of *B. terrestris* due to the novel environmental and climatic conditions in Tasmania. Given these results, *B. terrestris* most likely has the capacity to be successful in other introduced areas outside of its current invasive range and is a testament that invasive species can rapidly spread and adapt despite the genetic consequences following a founding bottleneck.

Conclusion and future perspectives

The evolutionary consequences of commercial bee use for wild bees have not been investigated previously. Our results in **Chapter I** fill this important gap by failing to find observed genetic consequences of commercial bee use in *B. terrestris* northern range. Further research should aim to investigate the reason why no introgression (at lower commercial *B. terrestris* use) is occurring. The knowledge may be used to determine at what scale commercial bumblebee use safely can be practiced to avoid genetic contamination. In addition, further research should investigate the region under selection in commercial *B. terrestris* to fully characterize genomic differentiation between wild and commercial bees. For example, long-read sequencing could be adopted to investigate if the structural variants in the candidate region on chromosome 11 are maintained via linkage.

To further investigate the effects of anthropogenic change on *B. terrestris*, which was one of the main focuses in **Chapter II**, the scale at which possible adaptations take place must be considered. *B. terrestris* is a highly mobile and migratory bumblebee (Fijen, 2021), as such adaptive responses to anthropogenic change might be occurring over large spatial scales where gene flow is reduced or over time, and suggestively, comparing historical samples with current *B. terrestris* samples might reveal such adaptations better than adopting a space-for-time substitution approach. In addition, studying a less mobile or less common bumblebee species might provide us with more understanding of how anthropogenic change at different scales affects bumblebees.

Furthermore, future studies could consider additional environmental variables in their designs. For example, including the spatial and temporal arrangement of agricultural fields and SNH, and not only the proportions, could also inform us how *B. terrestris* (and other bee species) respond to resources varying over space and time. In addition, the spatial and temporal arrangement of flower resources (such as in SNH) in arable lands is important for bee performance in relation to landscape simplification (Guezen & Forrest, 2021) and may exert different selection pressures on bee species.

To further investigate possible adaptations to pesticides used in agricultural practices, future studies could relate genetic adaptations to predicted levels of commonly used pesticides, looking across multiple generations to investigate the potential heritability of pesticide resistance and across large spatial scales to cover

all possible ways of exposure. In addition, in a pesticide-contaminated environment, comparisons between pesticide-tolerant (bee) populations with non-exposed (bee) populations may help inform us on the evolution of pesticide resistance.

Finally, since *B. terrestris* inhabits a vast array of environments, has high dispersal rates and a broad dietary breadth, all of which generally favours plasticity (Snell-Rood & Ehlman, 2021), the species most likely have a high degree of adaptive plasticity. Future studies should focus on how anthropogenic environmental change shapes adaptive plasticity in *B. terrestris* and if plasticity can help facilitate adaptive evolution in *B. terrestris* under rapid human-induced environmental change.

B. terrestris was found across the whole island of Tasmania, Australia, indicating that the species is doing well in its invasive range, which is evidenced by both genetic and plastic responses to environmental and climatic conditions (**Chapters III** and **IV**). Thus, the Tasmanian *B. terrestris* population does not follow the expectations of low evolutionary evolvability as a consequence of the experienced bottleneck (cf. Rollins et al., 2013). This may be a result of phenotypic plasticity, which is generally higher in invasive compared to non-invasive species (Davidson et al., 2011), facilitating plastic and subsequently evolutionary responses to the novel environment (Diamond & Martin, 2016). Further studies should explore plasticity versus evolvability or the interplay between the two in *B. terrestris* and other invasive species. The focus may be on whether high plasticity, suggestively in ecologically important traits (Manfredini et al., 2019), can facilitate evolution in novel environments by for example looking at cryptic genetic variation (Diamond & Martin, 2016).

The fast and widespread distribution of *B. terrestris* across Tasmania, seemingly unhindered by less favourable environments and low genetic diversity, is reason for concern. Although the Australian continent is separated by sea, *B. terrestris* already occurs on three smaller islands and two peninsulas south of Tasmania, showing that the species is not hindered by bodies of water. Monitoring the smaller islands north of Tasmania should be implemented to prevent further spread and possible colonization in the predicted suitable areas on the Australian continent. We have reason to believe that *B. terrestris* would be successful in these areas by adapting to similar environments as in Tasmania and similarly, negatively affecting the continental ecosystems. In addition, our results from chapters III and IV point to that *B. terrestris* will probably continue to be a successful invasive species under future environmental and climate change.

Acknowledgements

Many people contributed in different ways to this thesis, and I would like to thank them. First and foremost, I would like to thank my two main supervisors Rachael Dudaniec and Henrik Smith for their great support throughout my PhD journey.

Rachael, huge and warm thank you for always being available, despite living on the opposite side of the world, to answer any type of questions- big or small, for providing me with valuable feedback on my writing, for your time and efforts to improve the manuscripts, and for taking me on as a Cotutelle PhD candidate.

Henrik, thank you for believing in me when I approached you with the idea of creating a PhD project, for our valuable discussions about bumblebee ecology and how my PhD project fits into the bigger picture of conservation biology.

I would also like to thank Josephine R. Paris whom I would not have learned half of the skills I possess today. Josie, you have given me an enormous amount of support throughout this journey and the courage I needed to tackle new challenges. I will always be grateful for your encouragement and help.

To my co-supervisors, Peter Olsson and Johan Ekroos, a warm thank you for your support, interesting, helpful and supportive discussions, and help with various R, QGIS, and DNA extraction questions.

To my beloved Basti, who believed in me, made me feel safe, and provided me with the emotional support and love from home when I needed it the most. Jag älskar dig.

To Pappa and Emme, my beloved family, thank you for your support throughout this PhD journey. Emme, the best big sister, thank you for comforting me when things got difficult with your wise words like only a big sister could and for all the fun and well-needed weekends in Stockholm. Pappa, thank you for always believing in me and allowing me to be anything I wanted. Our excursions in nature, where you showed me different flowers, trees, and insects hiding under rocks inspired me to become a biologist and fall in love with nature. Thank you for being the best dad.

Börje, to cuddle with you and feel your unconditional love when I needed a break from work has without a doubt helped me get through these past four years. Thank you!

Thank you to my colleagues and friends at Lund University for contributing to an inspiring and fun work atmosphere. Josefin Winberg, Sofia Blomqvist, Hanna Thosteman, Julia Weber, Simon Jacobsen Ellerstrand, Johan Kjellberg Jensen, Pedro Rosero, Laura Hildesheim, Zachary Nolen, and Johanna Yourstone, thanks for the many chats over lunch break, for the well-needed supportive chats in the corridor and for being my friend, both at work and outside of work. Thanks Lina Herbertsson, who introduced me to the interesting field of bumblebee conservation, and Anna Persson and Romain Carrié, thank you for your insightful conversations about bumblebee ecology. Thanks, Hamid Ghanavi for teaching me about barcoding!

Thank you to the girls in the Conservation Genetics Lab who made me feel welcome and part of their group for the short three months I got to spend at Macquarie University in 2020, Sydney. A special thanks to Sanne Helsen and Emma Petrolo for working with me collecting bumblebees in Tasmania, for sharing many laughs, long days in the field, and going searching for (and finding!) the Tasmanian Devil late at night after field work was finished. Truly a trip I will remember!

Lastly, I would like to thank my field and lab workers through the years for their hard work that has contributed to this thesis.

References

- Acosta, A. L., Giannini, T. C., Imperatriz-Fonseca, V. L., & Saraiva, A. M. (2016). Worldwide alien invasion: A methodological approach to forecast the potential spread of a highly invasive pollinator. *PLoS ONE*, 11, 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0148295
- Aitken, S. N., & Whitlock, M. C. (2013). Assisted gene flow to facilitate local adaptation to climate change. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 44(September), 367–388. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-110512-135747
- Aizen, M. A., Smith-Ramírez, C., Morales, C. L., Vieli, L., Sáez, A., Barahona-Segovia, R. M., Arbetman, M. P., Montalva, J., Garibaldi, L. A., Inouye, D. W., & Harder, L. D. (2019). Coordinated species importation policies are needed to reduce serious invasions globally: The case of alien bumblebees in South America. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 56(1), 100–106. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13121
- Alexander, D. H., & Lange, K. (2011). Enhancements to the ADMIXTURE algorithm for individual ancestry estimation. *BMC Bioinformatics*, 12(246), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-12-246
- Austin, M. W., Tripodi, A. D., Strange, J. P., & Dunlap, A. S. (2022). Bumble bees exhibit body size clines across an urban gradient despite low genetic differentiation. *Scientific Reports*, 12(4166), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-08093-4
- Baldock, K. C. R., Goddard, M. A., Hicks, D. M., Kunin, W. E., Mitschunas, N., Osgathorpe, L. M., Potts, S. G., Robertson, K. M., Scott, A. V., Stone, G. N., Vaughan, I. P., & Memmott, J. (2015). Where is the UK's pollinator biodiversity? The importance of urban areas for flower-visiting insects. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 282: 20142. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.2849
- Balkenhol, N., Dudaniec, R. Y., Krutovsky, K. V., Johnson, J. S., Cairns, D. M., Segelbacher, G., Selkoe, K. A., von der Heyden, S., Wang, I. J., Selmoni, O., & Joost, S. (2017). Landscape Genomics: Understanding Relationships Between Environmental Heterogeneity and Genomic Characteristics of Populations. In O. Rajora (Ed.), *Population Genomics* (pp. 261–322). Springer, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/13836_2017_2
- Bartomeus, I., Molina, F. P., Hidalgo-Galiana, A., & Ortego, J. (2020). Safeguarding the genetic integrity of native pollinators requires stronger regulations on commercial lines. *Ecological Solutions and Evidence*, 1(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/2688-8319.12012
- Barton, N. H. (2000). Genetic hitchhiking. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society* B: Biological Sciences, 355(1403), 1553–1562. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2000.0716

- Bates, A., Sadler, J., Fairbrass, A., Falk, S., Hale, J., & Matthews, T. (2011). Changing bee and hoverfly pollinator assemblages along an urban-rural gradient. *PLoS ONE 6(8): E23459*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0023459
- Bates, D., Mächler, M., Bolker, B. M., & Walker, S. C. (2015). Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 67(1), 1–48. https://doi.org/10.18637/jss.v067.i01
- Belsky, J., & Joshi, N. (2019). Impact of Biotic and Abiotic Stressors on Managed and Feral Bees. 10(233), 1–42.
- Bocedi, G., Atkins, K. E., Liao, J., Henry, R. C., Travis, J. M. J., & Hellmann, J. J. (2013). Effects of local adaptation and interspecific competition on species' responses to climate change. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 1297, 83–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.12211
- Bommarco, R., Lundin, O., Smith, H. G., & Rundlöf, M. (2012). Drastic historic shifts in bumble-bee community composition in Sweden. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 279(1727), 309–315. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2011.0647
- Bonamour, S., Chevin, L. M., Charmantier, A., & Teplitsky, C. (2019). Phenotypic plasticity in response to climate change: The importance of cue variation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 374: 20180. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2018.0178
- Buckley, J., & Bridle, J. R. (2014). Loss of adaptive variation during evolutionary responses to climate change. *Ecology Letters*, 17(10), 1316–1325. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12340
- Burdine, J. D., & McCluney, K. E. (2019). Differential sensitivity of bees to urbanizationdriven changes in body temperature and water content. *Scientific Reports*, 9(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-38338-0
- Byatt, M. A., Chapman, N. C., Latty, T., & Oldroyd, B. P. (2015). The genetic consequences of the anthropogenic movement of social bees. *Insectes Sociaux*, 63(1), 15–24. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00040-015-0441-3
- Byrne, D. N., Buchmann, S. L., & Spangler, H. G. (1988). Relationship Between Wing Loading, Wingbeat Frequency and Body Mass in Homopterous Insects. *Journal of Experimental Biology*, 135(1), 9–23. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.135.1.9
- Catchen, J., Hohenlohe, P. A., Bassham, S., Amores, A., & Cresko, W. A. (2013). Stacks: An analysis tool set for population genomics. *Molecular Ecology*, 22(11), 3124–3140. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12354
- Caye, K., Jumentier, B., Lepeule, J., & François, O. (2019). LFMM 2: Fast and accurate inference of gene-environment associations in genome-wide studies. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 36(4), 852–860. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msz008
- Cejas, D., López-López, A., Muñoz, I., Ornosa, C., & De la Rúa, P. (2020). Unveiling introgression in bumblebee (*Bombus terrestris*) populations through mitogenomebased markers. *Animal Genetics*, 51(1), 70–77. https://doi.org/10.1111/age.12874
- Cejas, D., Ornosa, C., Muñoz, I., & De la Rúa, P. (2018). Searching for molecular markers to differentiate *bombus terrestris* (Linnaeus) subspecies in the Iberian Peninsula. *Sociobiology*, *65*(4), 558–565. https://doi.org/10.13102/sociobiology.v65i4.3442

- Chagnon, M. (2008). Causes and effects of the worldwide decline in pollinators and corrective measures by Madeleine Chagnon for the Quebec Regional Office Of the Canadian Wildlife Federation December 2008. In *Canadian Wildlife Federation. Quebec Regional Office.* (Issue December).
- Chole, H., Woodard, S. H., & Bloch, G. (2019). Body size variation in bees: regulation, mechanisms, and relationship to social organization. *Current Opinion in Insect Science*, 35, 77–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cois.2019.07.006
- Christmas, M. J., Jones, J. C., Olsson, A., Wallerman, O., Bunikis, I., Kierczak, M., Whitley, K. M., Sullivan, I., Geib, J. C., Miller-Struttmann, N. E., & Webster, M. T. (2022). A genomic and morphometric analysis of alpine bumblebees: Ongoing reductions in tongue length but no clear genetic component. *Molecular Ecology*, 31(4), 1111–1127. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.16291
- Colgan, T. J., Arce, A. N., Gill, R. J., Ramos Rodrigues, A., Kanteh, A., Duncan, E. J., Li, L., Chittka, L., & Wurm, Y. (2022). Genomic Signatures of Recent Adaptation in a Wild Bumblebee. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 39(2), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msab366
- Common, L. K., O'Connor, J. A., Dudaniec, R. Y., Peters, K. J., & Kleindorfer, S. (2020). Evidence for rapid downward fecundity selection in an ectoparasite (*Philornis downsi*) with earlier host mortality in Darwin's finches. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 33, 524–533. https://doi.org/10.1111/jeb.13588
- Dafni, A., Kevan, P., Gross, C. L., & Goka, K. (2010). Bombus terrestris, pollinator, invasive and pest: An assessment of problems associated with its widespread introductions for commercial purposes. Applied Entomology and Zoology, 45(1), 101–113. https://doi.org/10.1303/aez.2010.101
- Davidson, A. M., Jennions, M., & Nicotra, A. B. (2011). Do invasive species show higher phenotypic plasticity than native species and, if so, is it adaptive? A meta-analysis. *Ecology Letters*, 14, 419–431. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2011.01596.x
- Descamps, C., Quinet, M., & Jacquemart, A. L. (2021). The effects of drought on plantpollinator interactions: What to expect? *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, 182, 0098–8472. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envexpbot.2020.104297
- Dew, R. M., Silva, D. P., & Rehan, S. M. (2019). Range expansion of an already widespread bee under climate change. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 17, 2351– 9894. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2019.e00584
- Diamond, S. E., & Martin, R. A. (2016). The interplay between plasticity and evolution in response to human-induced environmental change. *F1000Research*, 5(0), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.9731.1
- Dudaniec, R. Y., Yong, C. J., Lancaster, L. T., Svensson, E. I., & Hansson, B. (2018). Signatures of local adaptation along environmental gradients in a range-expanding damselfly (*Ischnura elegans*). *Molecular Ecology*, 27(11), 2576–2593. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.14709
- Durinck, S., Spellman, P. T., Birney, E., & Huber, W. (2009). Mapping identifiers for the integration of genomic datasets with the R/ Bioconductor package biomaRt. *Nature Protocols*, 4(8), 1184–1191. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2009.97

- Eggenberger, H., Frey, D., Pellissier, L., Ghazoul, J., Fontana, S., & Moretti, M. (2019). Urban bumblebees are smaller and more phenotypically diverse than their rural counterparts. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *88*(10), 1522–1533. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13051
- Endler, J. A. (2020). *Natural Selection in the Wild. (MPB-21), Volume 21.* Princeton University Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.2307/j.ctvx5w9v9
- Estoup, A., Solignac, M., Cornuet, J. M., Goudet, J., & Scholl, A. (1996). Genetic differentiation of continental and island populations of *Bombus terrestris* (Hymenoptera: *Apidae*) in Europe. *Molecular Ecology*, 5(1), 19–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.1996.tb00288.x
- Evans, J., Brazenor, A., & Hennecke, B. (2017). Exotic invasive species Identification of species with environmental impacts. *ABARES technical report 17.3, Canberra, August.*
- Fahrig, L., Baudry, J., Brotons, L., Burel, F. G., Crist, T. O., Fuller, R. J., Sirami, C., Siriwardena, G. M., & Martin, J. L. (2011). Functional landscape heterogeneity and animal biodiversity in agricultural landscapes. *Ecology Letters*, 14(2), 101–112. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2010.01559.x
- Fan, X., Abbott, T. E., Larson, D., & Chen, K. (2014). BreakDancer: Identification of genomic structural variation from paired-end read mapping. *Current Protocols in Bioinformatics*, SUPPL.45, 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471250953.bi1506s45
- Fick, S. E., & Hijmans, R. J. (2017). WorldClim 2: new 1-km spatial resolution climate surfaces for global land areas. *International Journal of Climatology*, 37(12), 4302– 4315. https://doi.org/10.1002/joc.5086
- Fijen, T. P. M. (2021). Mass-migrating bumblebees: An overlooked phenomenon with potential far-reaching implications for bumblebee conservation. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *58*, 274–280. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13768
- Forester, B. R., Lasky, J. R., Wagner, H. H., & Urban, D. L. (2018). Comparing methods for detecting multilocus adaptation with multivariate genotype–environment associations. *Molecular Ecology*, 27(9), 2215–2233. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.14584
- Fortel, L., Henry, M., Guilbaud, L., Mouret, H., & Vaissière, B. E. (2016). Use of humanmade nesting structures by wild bees in an urban environment. *Journal of Insect Conservation*, 20(2), 239–253. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-016-9857-y
- Fourcade, Y., Åström, S., & Öckinger, E. (2019). Climate and land-cover change alter bumblebee species richness and community composition in subalpine areas. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, 28(3), 639–653. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-018-1680-1
- Frichot, E., Schoville, S. D., Bouchard, G., & François, O. (2013). Testing for associations between loci and environmental gradients using latent factor mixed models. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 30(7), 1687–1699. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/mst063

- Garcia, M., Juhos, S., Larsson, M., Olason, P. I., Martin, M., Eisfeldt, J., DiLorenzo, S., Sandgren, J., Díaz De Ståhl, T., Ewels, P., Wirta, V., Nistér, M., Käller, M., & Nystedt, B. (2020). Sarek: A portable workflow for whole-genome sequencing analysis of germline and somatic variants. *F1000Research*, 9(63). https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.16665.1
- Garrison, E., & Marth, G. (2012). Haplotype-based variant detection from short-read sequencing. *ArXiv*, 1207. http://arxiv.org/abs/1207.3907
- Gérard, M., Michez, D., Debat, V., Fullgrabe, L., Meeus, I., Piot, N., Sculfort, O., Vastrade, M., Smagghe, G., & Vanderplanck, M. (2018). Stressful conditions reveal decrease in size, modification of shape but relatively stable asymmetry in bumblebee wings. *Scientific Reports*, 8(15169), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-33429-4
- Geslin, B., & Morales, C. L. (2015). New records reveal rapid geographic expansion of Bombus terrestris Linnaeus, 1758 (Hymenoptera: Apidae), an invasive species in Argentina. Check List, 11(3), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1726-4901(14)00222-6
- Geue, J. C., & Thomassen, H. A. (2020). Unraveling the habitat preferences of two closely related bumble bee species in Eastern Europe. *Ecology and Evolution*, *10*, 4773–4790. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.6232
- Ghisbain, G., Gérard, M., Wood, T. J., Hines, H. M., & Michez, D. (2021). Expanding insect pollinators in the Anthropocene. *Biological Reviews*, *96*, 2755–2770. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12777
- Glück, M., Geue, J. C., & Thomassen, H. A. (2022). Environmental differences explain subtle yet detectable genetic structure in a widespread pollinator. *BMC Ecology and Evolution*, 22(1), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12862-022-01963-5
- Goudet, J. (2005). HIERFSTAT, a package for R to compute and test hierarchical F-statistics. *Molecular Ecology Notes*, 5(1), 184–186. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-8286.2004.00828.x
- Goulson, D. (2003). Conserving wild bees for crop pollination. *Food, Agriculture & Environment*, 1(1), 142–144.
- Goulson, D., Lye, G. C., & Darvill, B. (2008). Decline and Conservation of Bumble Bees. *Annual Review of Entomology*, 53(1), 191–208. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ento.53.103106.093454
- Goulson, D., Nicholls, E., Botías, C., & Rotheray, E. L. (2015). Bee declines driven by combined stress from parasites, pesticides, and lack of flowers. *Science*, 347(6229), 1255957. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1255957
- Grass, I., Albrecht, J., Farwig, N., & Jauker, F. (2021). Plant traits and landscape simplification drive intraspecific trait diversity of *Bombus terrestris* in wildflower plantings. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 57, 91–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2021.10.002
- Greenleaf, S. S., Williams, N. M., Winfree, R., & Kremen, C. (2007). Bee foraging ranges and their relationship to body size. *Oecologia*, 153, 589–596. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-007-0752-9

- Grimm, N. B., Faeth, S. H., Golubiewski, N. E., Redman, C. L., Wu, J., Bai, X., & Briggs, J. M. (2008). Global change and the ecology of cities. *Science*, 319(5864), 756–760. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1150195
- Hall, M. A., Nimmo, D. G., Cunningham, S. A., Walker, K., & Bennett, A. F. (2019). The response of wild bees to tree cover and rural land use is mediated by species' traits. *Biological Conservation*, 231(December 2018), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.12.032
- Harrison, X. A. (2014). Using observation-level random effects to model overdispersion in count data in ecology and evolution. *PeerJ*;2:E616; DOI 10.7717/Peerj.616, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.616
- Hart, A. F., Maebe, K., Brown, G., Smagghe, G., & Ings, T. (2021). Winter activity unrelated to introgression in British bumblebee *Bombus terrestris audax*. *Apidologie*, 52, 315–327. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13592-020-00822-w
- Hart, A. F., Verbeeck, J., Ariza, D., Cejas, D., Ghisbain, G., Honchar, H., Radchenko, V. G., Straka, J., Ljubomirov, T., Lecocq, T., Dániel-Ferreira, J., Flaminio, S., Bortolotti, L., Karise, R., Meeus, I., Smagghe, G., Vereecken, N., Vandamme, P., Michez, D., & Maebe, K. (2022). Signals of adaptation to agricultural stress in the genomes of two European bumblebees. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *13*(October), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2022.993416
- Hartig, F. (2022). DHARMa: Residual Diagnostics for Hierarchical (Multi-Level / Mixed) Regression Models. R package version 0.4.6. http://florianhartig.github.io/DHARMa/.
- Hendry, A. P. (2016). Key questions on the role of phenotypic plasticity in ecoevolutionary dynamics. *Journal of Heredity*, 107(1), 25–41. https://doi.org/10.1093/jhered/esv060
- Heraghty, S. D., Jackson, J. M., & Lozier, J. D. (2023). Whole genome analyses reveal weak signatures of population structure and environmentally associated local adaptation in an important North American pollinator, the bumble bee *Bombus vosnesenskii*. *BioRxiv*.
- Herbertsson, L., Khalaf, R., Johnson, K., Bygebjerg, R., Blomqvist, S., & Persson, A. S. (2021). Long-term data shows increasing dominance of *Bombus terrestris* with climate warming. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 53, 116–123. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2021.03.008
- Hingston, A. B. (2006). Is the exotic bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* really invading Tasmanian native vegetation? *Journal of Insect Conservation*, *10*(3), 289–293. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-006-6711-7
- Hingston, A. B., Marsden-Smedley, J., Driscoll, D. A., Corbett, S., Fenton, J., Anderson, R., Plowman, C., Mowling, F., Jenkin, M., Matsui, K., Bonham, K. J., Ilowski, M., Mcquillan, P. B., Yaxley, B., Reid, T., Storey, D., Poole, L., Mallick, S. A., Fitzgerald, N., ... Desmarchelier, J. M. (2002). Extent of invasion of Tasmanian native vegetation by the exotic bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* (Apoidea: *Apidae*). *Austral Ecology*, *27*(2), 162–172. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1442-9993.2002.01179.x

- Hingston, A. B., & McQuillan, P. B. (1998a). Does the recently introduced bumblebee Bombus terrestris (Apidae) threaten Australian ecosystems? Austral Ecology, 23(6), 539–549. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.1998.tb00764.x
- Hingston, A. B., & McQuillan, P. B. (1998b). Nectar robbing in Epacris impressa (Epacridaceae) by the recently introduced bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* (Apidae) in Tasmania. *Victorian Naturalist*, 4, 116–119.
- Hingston, A. B., & McQuillan, P. B. (1999). Displacement of Tasmanian native megachilid bees by the recently introduced bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* (Linnaeus, 1758) (Hymenoptera: *Apidae*). *Australian Journal of Zoology*, 47, 59–65. https://doi.org/10.1071/ZO98016
- Hingston, A. B., & Wotherspoon, S. (2017). Introduced social bees reduce nectar availability during the breeding season of the swift parrot (*Lathamus discolor*). *Pacific Conservation Biology*, 23, 52–62. https://doi.org/10.1071/PC16025
- Huml, J. V., Ellis, J. S., Lloyd, K., Benefer, C. M., Kiernan, M., Brown, M. J. F., & Knight, M. E. (2021). Bucking the trend of pollinator decline: the population genetics of a range expanding bumblebee. *Evolutionary Ecology*, 35(3), 413–442. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10682-021-10111-2
- Ings, T. C., Ings, N. L., Chittka, L., & Rasmont, P. (2010). A failed invasion? Commercially introduced pollinators in Southern France. *Apidologie*, 41(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1051/apido/2009044
- Ings, T. C., Schikora, J., & Chittka, L. (2005). Bumblebees, humble pollinators or assiduous invaders? A population comparison of foraging performance in *Bombus terrestris. Oecologia*, 144(3), 508–516. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-005-0081-9
- Ings, T. C., Ward, N. L., & Chittka, L. (2006). Can commercially imported bumble bees out-compete their native conspecifics? *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *43*(5), 940–948. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2006.01199.x
- IPBES. (2016). The assessment report of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services on pollinators, pollination and food production. S.G. Potts, V. L. Imperatriz-Fonseca, and H. T. Ngo (eds). www.ipbes.net
- Jackson, J. M., Pimsler, M. L., Oyen, K. J., Koch-Uhuad, J. B., Herndon, J. D., Strange, J. P., Dillon, M. E., & Lozier, J. D. (2018). Distance, elevation and environment as drivers of diversity and divergence in bumble bees across latitude and altitude. *Molecular Ecology*, 27(14), 2926–2942. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.14735
- Jackson, J. M., Pimsler, M. L., Oyen, K. J., Strange, J. P., Dillon, M. E., & Lozier, J. D. (2020). Local adaptation across a complex bioclimatic landscape in two montane bumble bee species. *Molecular Ecology*, 29(5), 920–939. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.15376
- Jombart, T., & Ahmed, I. (2011). adegenet 1.3-1: New tools for the analysis of genomewide SNP data. *Bioinformatics*, 27(21), 3070–3071. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btr521

- Kammerer, M., Goslee, S. C., Douglas, M. R., Tooker, J. F., & Grozinger, C. M. (2021). Wild bees as winners and losers: Relative impacts of landscape composition, quality, and climate. *Global Change Biology*, 27(6), 1250–1265. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcb.15485
- Kanbe, Y., Okada, I., Yoneda, M., Goka, K., & Tsuchida, K. (2008). Interspecific mating of the introduced bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* and the native Japanese bumblebee *Bombus hypocrita sapporoensis* results in inviable hybrids. *Naturwissenschaften*, 95(10), 1003–1008. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00114-008-0415-7
- Kardum Hjort, C., Paris, J., Smith, H. G., & Dudaniec, R. (2023a). Selection despite low genetic diversity and high gene flow in a rapid island invasion of the bumblebee, *Bombus terrestris. Molecular Ecology*, 00, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.17212
- Kardum Hjort, C., Smith, H. G., Allen, A. P., & Dudaniec, R. Y. (2023b). Morphological Variation in Bumblebees (*Bombus terrestris*) (Hymenoptera: *Apidae*) After Three Decades of an Island Invasion. *Journal of Insect Science*, 23(1), 1–10.
- Kerr, J. T., Pindar, A., Galpern, P., Packer, L., Potts, S. G., Roberts, S. M., Rasmont, P., Schweiger, O., Colla, S. R., Richardson, L. L., Wagner, D. L., & Gall, L. F. (2015). *Climate change impacts on bumblebees converge across continents.* 349(6244), 177– 180.
- Klein, A. M., Vaissière, B. E., Cane, J. H., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Cunningham, S. A., Kremen, C., & Tscharntke, T. (2007). Importance of pollinators in changing landscapes for world crops. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 274(1608), 303–313. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2006.3721
- Klumpers, S. G. T., Stang, M., & Klinkhamer, P. G. L. (2019). Foraging efficiency and size matching in a plant–pollinator community: the importance of sugar content and tongue length. *Ecology Letters*, 22, 469–479. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13204
- Knapp, J. L., Nicholson, C. C., Jonsson, O., de Miranda, J. R., & Rundlöf, M. (2023). Ecological traits interact with landscape context to determine bees' pesticide risk. *Nature Ecology and Evolution*, 7(4), 547–556. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-023-01990-5
- Kosior, A., Celary, W., Olejniczak, P., Fijał, J., Król, W., Solarz, W., & Płonka, P. (2007). The decline of the bumble bees and cuckoo bees (Hymenoptera: *Apidae: Bombini*) of Western and Central Europe. *Oryx*, 41(1), 79–88. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0030605307001597
- Kovach, R. P., Luikart, G., Lowe, W. H., Boyer, M. C., & Muhlfeld, C. C. (2016). Risk and efficacy of human-enabled interspecific hybridization for climate-change adaptation: Response to Hamilton and Miller (2016). *Conservation Biology*, 30(2), 428–430. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12678
- Kremen, C., Williams, N. M., & Thorp, R. W. (2002). Crop pollination from native bees at risk from agricultural intensification. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 99(26), 16812–16816. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.262413599
- Kuznetsova, A., Brockhoff, P. B., & Christensen, R. H. B. (2017). ImerTest Package: Tests in Linear Mixed Effects Models. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 82, 1–26. https://doi.org/10.18637/JSS.V082.I13

- Lancaster, L. T., Dudaniec, R. Y., Hansson, B., & Svensson, E. I. (2015). Latitudinal shift in thermal niche breadth results from thermal release during a climate-mediated range expansion. *Journal of Biogeography*, 42, 1953–1963. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12553
- Lancaster, L. T., Fuller, Z. L., Berger, D., Barbour, M. A., Jentoft, S., & Wellenreuther, M. (2022). Understanding climate change response in the age of genomics. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 91(6), 1056–1063. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13711
- Lane, P., Morris, D., Bridle, K., & Eyles, A. (2015). Common grasses of Tasmania. Cradle Coast NRM, NRM North, NRM South and the University of Tasmania.
- Layer, R. M., Chiang, C., Quinlan, A. R., & Hall, I. M. (2014). LUMPY: A probabilistic framework for structural variant discovery. *Genome Biology*, 15(6), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/gb-2014-15-6-r84
- Layton, K. K. S., & Bradbury, I. R. (2022). Harnessing the power of multi-omics data for predicting climate change response. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, 91(6), 1064–1072. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.13619
- Lecocq, T., Rasmont, P., Harpke, A., & Schweiger, O. (2016). Improving International Trade Regulation by Considering Intraspecific Variation for Invasion Risk Assessment of Commercially Traded Species: The *Bombus terrestris* Case. *Conservation Letters*, 9(4), 281–289. https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12215
- Lee, C. E. (2002). Evolutionary genetics of invasive species. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 17(8), 386–391. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(02)02554-5
- Leroy, C., Brunet, J. L., Henry, M., & Alaux, C. (2023). Using physiology to better support wild bee conservation. *Conservation Physiology*, 11(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/coac076
- Li, Han, & Ralph, P. (2019). Local PCA Shows How the Effect of Population. *Genetics*, 211(January), 211:289-304.
- Li, Heng, & Durbin, R. (2009). Fast and accurate short read alignment with Burrows-Wheeler transform. *Bioinformatics*, 25(14), 1754–1760. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btp324
- Liu, Z., He, C., & Wu, J. (2016). The relationship between habitat loss and fragmentation during urbanization: An empirical evaluation from 16 world cities. *PLoS ONE*, 11(4), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0154613
- Lombaert, E., Estoup, A., Facon, B., Joubard, B., Grégoire, J. C., Jannin, A., Blin, A., & Guillemaud, T. (2014). Rapid increase in dispersal during range expansion in the invasive ladybird *Harmonia axyridis*. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, 27, 508–517. https://doi.org/10.1111/jeb.12316
- Lozier, J. D., Parsons, Z. M., Rachoki, L., Jackson, J. M., Pimsler, M. L., Oyen, K. J., Strange, J., & Dillon, M. E. (2021). Divergence in body mass, wing loading, and population structure reveals species-specific and potentially adaptive trait variation across elevations in montane bumble bees. *Insect Systematics and Diversity*, 5, 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1093/isd/ixab012

- Lozier, J. D., Strange, J. P., & Koch, J. B. (2013). Landscape heterogeneity predicts gene flow in a widespread polymorphic bumble bee, *Bombus bifarius* (Hymenoptera: *Apidae*). Conservation Genetics, 14(5), 1099–1110. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-013-0498-3
- Lu, C., Hung, Y. T., & Cheng, Q. (2020). A Review of Sub-lethal Neonicotinoid Insecticides Exposure and Effects on Pollinators. *Current Pollution Reports*, 6(2), 137–151. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40726-020-00142-8
- Maebe, K., Karise, R., Meeus, I., Mänd, M., & Smagghe, G. (2019). Level of Genetic Diversity in European Bumblebees is Not Determined by Local Species Abundance. *Frontiers in Genetics*, *10*, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2019.01262
- Manfredini, F., Arbetman, M., & Toth, A. L. (2019). A Potential Role for Phenotypic Plasticity in Invasions and Declines of Social Insects. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution*, 7, 1–17. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2019.00375
- Marshman, J., Blay-Palmer, A., & Landman, K. (2019). Anthropocene crisis: Climate change, pollinators, and food security. *Environments - MDPI*, 6(2), 22. https://doi.org/10.3390/environments6020022
- Martinet, B., Dellicour, S., Ghisbain, G., Przybyla, K., Zambra, E., Lecocq, T., Boustani, M., Baghirov, R., Michez, D., & Rasmont, P. (2021). Global effects of extreme temperatures on wild bumblebees. *Conservation Biology*, 35(5), 1507–1518. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13685
- Martinet, B., Rasmont, P., Cederberg, B., Evrard, D., Ødegaard, F., Paukkunen, J., & Lecocq, T. (2015). Forward to the north: Two Euro-Mediterranean bumblebee species now cross the Arctic Circle. *Annales de La Societe Entomologique de France*, 51(4), 303–309. https://doi.org/10.1080/00379271.2015.1118357
- McFarlane, S. E., & Pemberton, J. M. (2019). Detecting the True Extent of Introgression during Anthropogenic Hybridization. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 34(4), 315– 326. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2018.12.013
- Meeus, I., Brown, M. J. F., De Graaf, D. C., & Smagghe, G. (2011). Effects of Invasive Parasites on Bumble Bee Declines. *Conservation Biology*, 25(4), 662–671. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2011.01707.x
- Messinger, J., Martini, M. M. F., Rossi, G., Samuels, J., & Lauerer, M. (2016). Successful pollination of the Neotropical crop Solanum quitoense by *Bombus terrestris*: Behaviour, efficiency and yield. *Journal of Applied Entomology*, 140(1–2), 124–134. https://doi.org/10.1111/jen.12237
- Mijangos, J. L., Gruber, B., Berry, O., Pacioni, C., & Georges, A. (2022). dartR v2: An accessible genetic analysis platform for conservation, ecology and agriculture. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 13(10), 2150–2158. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13918
- Miller-Struttmann, N. E., Geib, J. C., Franklin, J. D., Kevan, P. G., Holdo, R. M., Ebert-May, D., Lynn, A. M., Kettenbach, J. A., Hedrick, E., & Galen, C. (2015). Functional mismatch in a bumble bee pollination mutualism under climate change. *Science*, 349, 1541–1544. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aab0868

- Morales, C. L., Arbetman, M. P., Cameron, S. A., & Aizen, M. A. (2013). Rapid ecological replacement of a native bumble bee by invasive species. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 11, 529–534. https://doi.org/10.1890/120321
- Mossberg, B., & Cederberg, B. (2012). *Humlor i Sverige 40 arter att älska och förundras över*. Bonnier fakta.
- Nagamitsu, T., & Yamagishi, H. (2009). Nest density, genetic structure, and triploid workers in exotic *Bombus terrestris* populations colonized Japan . *Apidologie*, 40(4), 429–440. https://doi.org/10.1051/apido/2009004
- Nakagawa, S., & Schielzeth, H. (2010). Repeatability for Gaussian and non-Gaussian data: A practical guide for biologists. *Biological Reviews*, 85, 935–956. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2010.00141.x
- Nayak, R. K., Rana, K., Bairwa, V. K., & Bharthi, V. D. (2020). A review on role of bumblebee pollination in fruits and vegetables. *Phytopathology*, 9(3), 1328–1334. https://doi.org/10.22271/PHYTO.2020.V9.I3V.11494
- Nei, M. (1979). Mathematical model for studying genetic variation in terms of restriction endonucleases. 76(10), 5269–5273.
- Nooten, S. S., & Rehan, S. M. (2020). Historical changes in bumble bee body size and range shift of declining species. *Biodiversity and Conservation*, *29*(2), 451–467. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-019-01893-7
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F. G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., McGlinn, D., Minchin, P. R., O'Hara, R. B., Simpson, G. L., Solymos, P., Stevens, M. H. H., Szoecs, E., & Wagner, H. (2013). Package 'vegan'. Community ecology package, version, 2(9).
- Oliveira, M. O., Freitas, B. M., Scheper, J., & Kleijn, D. (2016). Size and sex-dependent shrinkage of Dutch bees during one-and-a-half centuries of land-use change. *PLoS ONE*, 11(2), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0148983
- Ollerton, J., Winfree, R., & Tarrant, S. (2011). How many flowering plants are pollinated by animals? *Oikos*, *120*(3), 321–326. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.18644.x
- Pardee, G. L., Griffin, S. R., Stemkovski, M., Harrison, T., Portman, Z. M., Kazenel, M. R., Lynn, J. S., Inouye, D. W., & Irwin, R. E. (2022). Life-history traits predict responses of wild bees to climate variation. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 289: 20212. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2021.2697
- Pedersen, T., Forsgren, E., Henriksson, J., Herbertsson, L., Karlsson, I., de Miranda, J., Sahlin, U., Smith, H., Aiéro, M., Blomqvist, S., Dudaniec, R., Granberg, F., Hjort, C., Lindström, S., Olsson, O., Olsson, P., Rundlöf, M., Winter, C., & Yourstone, J. (2020). *Biologiska hot mot humlor*.
- Penado, A., Rebelo, H., & Goulson, D. (2016). Spatial distribution modelling reveals climatically suitable areas for bumblebees in undersampled parts of the Iberian Peninsula. *Insect Conservation and Diversity*, 9, 391–401. https://doi.org/10.1111/icad.12190
- Persson, A. S., & Smith, H. G. (2011). Bumblebee colonies produce larger foragers in complex landscapes. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 12(8), 695–702. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2011.10.002

- Petkova, D., Novembre, J., & Stephens, M. (2015). Visualizing spatial population structure with estimated effective migration surfaces. *Nature Genetics*, 48(1), 94–100. https://doi.org/10.1038/ng.3464
- Pfeifer, B., Wittelsbürger, U., Ramos-Onsins, S. E., & Lercher, M. J. (2014). PopGenome: An efficient swiss army knife for population genomic analyses in R. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 31(7), 1929–1936. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msu136
- Pickett, S. T. A. (1989). Space-for-Time Substitution as an Alternative to Long-Term Studies. In G. E. Likens (Ed.), *Long-Term Studies in Ecology: Approaches and Alternatives* (pp. 110–135). Springer, New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-7358-6_5
- Poplin, R., Ruano-Rubio, V., DePristo, M. A., Fennell, T. J., Carneiro, M. O., Auwera, G. A. Van der, Kling, D. E., Gauthier, L. D., Levy-Moonshine, A., Roazen, D., Shakir, K., Thibault, J., Chandran, S., Whelan, C., Lek, M., Gabriel, S., Daly, M. J., Neale, B., MacArthur, D. G., & Banks, E. (2017). Scaling accurate genetic variant discovery to tens of thousands of samples. *BioRxiv*, 201178. https://doi.org/10.1101/201178
- Potts, S. G., Imperatriz-Fonseca, V., Ngo, H. T., Aizen, M. A., Biesmeijer, J. C., Breeze, T. D., Dicks, L. V., Garibaldi, L. A., Hill, R., Settele, J., & Vanbergen, A. J. (2016). Safeguarding pollinators and their values to human well-being. *Nature*, 540(7632), 220–229. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature20588
- Purcell, S., Neale, B., Todd-Brown, K., Thomas, L., Ferreira, M. A. R., Bender, D., Maller, J., Sklar, P., De Bakker, P. I. W., Daly, M. J., & Sham, P. C. (2007). PLINK: A tool set for whole-genome association and population-based linkage analyses. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 81(3), 559–575. https://doi.org/10.1086/519795
- R Core Team. (2022). R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. R Founda- tion for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.Rproject.org/.
- Ranjbaran, Y., Saberi-pirooz, R., Rödder, D., & Ahmadzadeh, F. (2024). What happens in ice age, does not stay in ice age: Phylogeography of *Bombus terrestris* revealed a low genetic diversity amongst the Eurasian populations. *Global Ecology and Conservation*, 49, e02775. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2023.e02775
- Rasmont, P., Coppee, A., Michez, D., & De Meulemeester, T. (2008). An overview of the Bombus terrestris (L. 1758) subspecies (Hymenoptera: Apidae). Annales de La Societe Entomologique de France, 44(2), 243–250. https://doi.org/10.1080/00379271.2008.10697559
- Reznick, D. N., Losos, J., & Travis, J. (2019). From low to high gear: there has been a paradigm shift in our understanding of evolution. *Ecology Letters*, 22(2), 233–244. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13189
- Robinson, R. A., & Sutherland, W. J. (2002). Post-war changes in arable farming and biodiversity in Great Britain. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *39*(1), 157–176. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2664.2002.00695.x

- Rollin, O., Benelli, G., Benvenuti, S., Decourtye, A., Wratten, S. D., Canale, A., & Desneux, N. (2016). Weed-insect pollinator networks as bio-indicators of ecological sustainability in agriculture. A review. *Agronomy for Sustainable Development*, 36(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13593-015-0342-x
- Rollins, L. A., Moles, A. T., Lam, S., Buitenwerf, R., Buswell, J. M., Brandenburger, C. R., Flores-Moreno, H., Nielsen, K. B., Couchman, E., Brown, G. S., Thomson, F. J., Hemmings, F., Frankham, R., & Sherwin, W. B. (2013). High genetic diversity is not essential for successful introduction. *Ecology and Evolution*, *3*(13), 4501–4517. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.824
- Rundlöf, M., Andersson, G. K. S., Bommarco, R., Fries, I., Hederström, V., Herbertsson, L., Jonsson, O., Klatt, B. K., Pedersen, T. R., Yourstone, J., & Smith, H. G. (2015). Seed coating with a neonicotinoid insecticide negatively affects wild bees. *Nature*, 521(7550), 77–80. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14420
- Russo, L. (2016). Positive and negative impacts of non-native bee species around the world. *Insects*, 7(4), 69. https://doi.org/10.3390/insects7040069
- Sadd, B. M., Barribeau, S. M., Bloch, G., de Graaf, D. C., Dearden, P., Elsik, C. G.,
 Gadau, J., Grimmelikhuijzen, C. J. P., Hasselmann, M., Lozier, J. D., Robertson, H.
 M., Smagghe, G., Stolle, E., Van Vaerenbergh, M., Waterhouse, R. M., BornbergBauer, E., Klasberg, S., Bennett, A. K., Câmara, F., ... Worley, K. C. (2015). The
 genomes of two key bumblebee species with primitive eusocial organization. *Genome Biology*, 16(76), 1–31. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13059-015-0623-3
- Sattler, T., Duelli, P., Obrist, M. K., Arlettaz, R., & Moretti, M. (2010). Response of arthropod species richness and functional groups to urban habitat structure and management. *Landscape Ecology*, 25(6), 941–954. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-010-9473-2
- Schmid-Hempel, P., Schmid-Hempel, R., Brunner, P. C., Seeman, O. D., & Allen, G. R. (2007). Invasion success of the bumblebee, *Bombus terrestris*, despite a drastic genetic bottleneck. *Heredity*, 99, 414–422. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.hdy.6801017
- Seabra, S. G., Silva, S. E., Nunes, V. L., Sousa, V. C., Martins, J., Marabuto, E., Rodrigues, A. S. B., Pina-Martins, F., Laurentino, T. G., Rebelo, M. T., Figueiredo, E., & Paulo, O. S. (2019). Genomic signatures of introgression between commercial and native bumblebees, *Bombus terrestris*, in western Iberian Peninsula— Implications for conservation and trade regulation. *Evolutionary Applications*, 12(4), 679–691. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.12732
- Semmens, T. D., Turner, E., & Buttermore, R. (1993). Bombus terrestris (L.) (Hymenoptera: Apidae) Now Established in Tasmania. Australian Journal of Entomology, 32(4), 346–346. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-6055.1993.tb00598.x
- Smith, H. G., Birkhofer, K., Clough, Y., Ekroos, J., Olsson, O., & Rundlöf, M. (2014). Beyond dispersal: the role of animal movement in modern agricultural landscapes. In L.-A. Hansson & S. Åkesson (Eds.), *Animal Movement Across Scales* (p. 0). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/acprof:oso/9780199677184.003.0004
- Snell-Rood, E., & Ehlman, S. (2021). Ecology and Evolution of Plasticity. In D. W. Pfennig (Ed.), *Phenotypic Plasticity & Evolution* (pp. 91–111). https://doi.org/10.1201/9780429343001-6

- Soroye, P., Newbold, T., & Kerr, J. (2020). Climate change contributes to widespread declines among bumble bees across continents. *Science*, *367*(6478), 685–688.
- Suni, S. S., Scott, Z., Averill, A., & Whiteley, A. (2017). Population genetics of wild and managed pollinators: implications for crop pollination and the genetic integrity of wild bees. *Conservation Genetics*, 18(3), 667–677. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10592-017-0955-5
- Svensson, B., Lagerlöf, J., & G. Svensson, B. (2000). Habitat preferences of nest-seeking bumble bees (Hymenoptera: *Apidae*) in an agricultural landscape. *Agriculture*, *Ecosystems and Environment*, 77, 247–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-8809(99)00106-1
- Szpiech, Z. A., & Hernandez, R. D. (2014). Selscan: An efficient multithreaded program to perform EHH-based scans for positive selection. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 31(10), 2824–2827. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msu211
- Theodorou, P., Baltz, L. M., Paxton, R. J., & Soro, A. (2020). Urbanization is associated with shifts in bumblebee body size, with cascading effects on pollination. *Evolutionary Applications*, 14(1), 53–68. https://doi.org/10.1111/eva.13087
- Theodorou, P., Radzevičiūtė, R., Kahnt, B., Soro, A., Grosse, I., & Paxton, R. J. (2018).
 Genome-wide single nucleotide polymorphism scan suggests adaptation to urbanization in an important pollinator, the red-tailed bumblebee (*Bombus lapidarius* L.). *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 285: 20172. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2017.2806
- Tigano, A., & Friesen, V. L. (2016). Genomics of local adaptation with gene flow. *Molecular Ecology*, 25(10), 2144–2164. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13606
- Tommasi, N., Pioltelli, E., Biella, P., Labra, M., Casiraghi, M., & Galimberti, A. (2022). Effect of urbanization and its environmental stressors on the intraspecific variation of flight functional traits in two bumblebee species. *Oecologia*, 199, 289–299. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-022-05184-x
- Tosi, S., Sfeir, C., Carnesecchi, E., VanEngelsdorp, D., & Chauzat, M. P. (2022). Lethal, sublethal, and combined effects of pesticides on bees: A meta-analysis and new risk assessment tools. *Science of the Total Environment*, *844: 15685*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.156857
- Trillo, A., Bartomeus, I., Ortiz-Sánchez, F. J., Belmonte, J., & Vilà, M. (2021). No detectable impact of parasite-infected commercial bumblebees on wild bees in areas adjacent to greenhouses despite diet overlap. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 320:107604*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2021.107604
- Trillo, A., Brown, M. J. F., & Vilà, M. (2019). Prevalence of Nosema microsporidians in commercial bumblebees (Bombus terrestris) is not related to the intensity of their use at the landscape scale. Apidologie, 50(2), 234–242. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13592-019-00637-4
- Tsuchida, K., Kondo, N. I., Inoue, M. N., & Goka, K. (2010). Reproductive disturbance risks to indigenous Japanese bumblebees from introduced *Bombus terrestris*. *Applied Entomology and Zoology*, 45(1), 49–58. https://doi.org/10.1303/aez.2010.49

- Tsvetkov, N., Bahia, S., Calla, B., Berenbaum, M. R., & Zayed, A. (2023). Genetics of tolerance in honeybees to the neonicotinoid clothianidin. *IScience*, *26*(3), 106084. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2023.106084
- Vanbergen, A. J., Garratt, M. P., Vanbergen, A. J., Baude, M., Biesmeijer, J. C., Britton, N. F., Brown, M. J. F., Brown, M., Bryden, J., Budge, G. E., Bull, J. C., Carvell, C., Challinor, A. J., Connolly, C. N., Evans, D. J., Feil, E. J., Garratt, M. P., Greco, M. K., Heard, M. S., ... Wright, G. A. (2013). Threats to an ecosystem service: Pressures on pollinators. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 11(5), 251–259. https://doi.org/10.1890/120126
- Velthuis, H. H. W., & Van Doorn, A. (2006). A century of advances in bumblebee domestication and the economic and environmental aspects of its commercialization for pollination. *Apidologie*, *37*(4), 421–451. https://doi.org/10.1051/apido:2006019
- Wadgymar, S. M., MacTavish, R., & Anderson, J. T. (2019). Evolutionary consequences of climate change. In *Ecosystem Consequences of Soil Warming: Microbes*, *Vegetation, Fauna and Soil Biogeochemistry* (pp. 29–59). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-813493-1.00003-X
- Watterson, G. A. (1975). On the number of segregating sites in genetical models without recombination. *Theor. Popul. Biol*, 7, 256–276.
- Wiens, J. J., Litvinenko, Y., Harris, L., & Jezkova, T. (2019). Rapid niche shifts in introduced species can be a million times faster than changes among native species and ten times faster than climate change. *Journal of Biogeography*, 46(9), 2115– 2125. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.13649
- Woodard, S. H., Lozier, J. D., Goulson, D., Williams, P. H., Strange, J. P., & Jha, S. (2015). Molecular tools and bumble bees: Revealing hidden details of ecology and evolution in a model system. *Molecular Ecology*, 24(12), 2916–2936. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13198
- Yadav, S., Stow, A. J., & Dudaniec, R. Y. (2019). Detection of environmental and morphological adaptation despite high landscape genetic connectivity in a pest grasshopper (*Phaulacridium vittatum*). *Molecular Ecology*, 28(14), 3395–3412. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.15146
- Yadav, S., Stow, A. J., Harris, R. M. B., & Dudaniec, R. Y. (2018). Morphological variation tracks environmental gradients in an agricultural pest, *phaulacridium vittatum* (Orthoptera: *Acrididae*). *Journal of Insect Science*, 18, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1093/jisesa/iey121
- Yoon, H.-J., Kim, S.-Y., Lee, K.-Y., Lee, S.-B., Park, I.-G., & Kim, I.-S. (2009). Interspecific Hybridization of the Bumblebees *Bombus ignitus* and *B. terrestris*. *International Journal of Industrial Entomology*, 18(1), 41–48.
- Zhang, C. J., Gao, Y., Kim, D. S., Yu, J., Jiang, C., Wang, Y., Zhang, Y., Diao, J., Wu, N., Chen, M., Min, X., Chen, Z., Sun, S., Wei, Z., & Yan, X. (2022). Bumblebees are more efficient than honeybees to facilitate wind-blown pollen dispersal of alfalfa (*Medicago sativa* L.). Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment, 340:108161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2022.108161
Understanding the adaptive capacity of the bumblebee *Bombus terrestris* across native and novel environments

Chapter I

Kardum Hjort, C., Paris, J. R., Olsson, P., Herbertsson, L., de Miranda, J. R., Dudaniec, R. Y., & Smith, H. G. (2022). Genomic divergence and a lack of recent introgression between commercial and wild bumblebees (*Bombus terrestris*). *Evolutionary Applications*, 15(3), 365–382.

Chapter II

Kardum Hjort, C., Dudaniec, R. Y., & Smith, H. G. Is local adaptation to landscape structure and climate constrained by gene flow in the native bumblebee, *Bombus terrestris*? Manuscript.

Chapter III

Kardum Hjort, C., Smith, H. G., Allen, A. P., Dudaniec, R. Y. (2023). Morphological variation in bumblebees (*Bombus terrestris*) (Hymenoptera: *Apidae*) after three decades of an island invasion. *Journal of Insect Science*, 23(1), 1–10.

Chapter IV

Kardum Hjort, C., Paris, J. R., Smith, H. G., Dudaniec, R. Y. (2023). Selection despite low genetic diversity and high gene flow in a rapid island invasion of the bumblebee *Bombus terrestris*. *Molecular Ecology*, 00, 1–18.



Biodiversity Department of Biology Faculty of Science

